THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Thin-film ultraviolet light-emitting diodes realized by electrochemical etching of AlGaN

Michael Alexander Bergmann



Photonics Laboratory Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience (MC2) CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden, 2020 Thin-film ultraviolet light-emitting diodes realized by electrochemical etching of AlGaN

Michael Alexander Bergmann

© Michael Alexander Bergmann, 2020

ISBN 978-91-7905-368-0

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola, Ny series nr 4835 ISSN 0346-718X

Chalmers University of Technology Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience Photonics Laboratory SE-412 96 Göteborg Sweden Telephone: +46 (0)31-772 10 00

Front cover illustration: Optical microscope image of thin-film flip-chip (TFFC) ultraviolet-B (UVB) light-emitting diodes (LEDs) on Si carrier. The inset shows a single TFFC UVB LED.

Printed by Chalmers digitaltryck, Chalmers tekniska högskola, Sweden, 2020

Thin-film ultraviolet light-emitting diodes realized by electrochemical etching of AlGaN

Michael Alexander Bergmann

Photonics Laboratory Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Göteborg, Sweden

Abstract

Ultraviolet (UV) light sources have a direct impact on everyone's life. They are used to sterilize surfaces as well as for water purification. In addition, they are used in green houses to enhance health-promoting substances in plants, for phototherapy to treat skin diseases, for sensing and material curing. Today, most of these applications use mercury lamps that are fragile, bulky and toxic. AlGaN-based UV light-emitting diodes (LEDs) have the potential to solve all these issues, but their implementation has been limited due to their low electrical to optical power conversion efficiency (PCE) being below 10%. Blue-emitting GaN-based LEDs have already found their way into everyone's home through general lighting. This was made possible by the tremendous performance improvements, reaching PCEs close to 90%. Unfortunately, the device concepts for achieving highly efficient GaN-based LEDs, such as the thin-film flip-chip (TFFC) design that can greatly improve light-extraction efficiency, are not easily transferred to AlGaN-based UV LEDs.

In this work, we demonstrate a new device platform to realize UV LEDs with a TFFC design based on electrochemical etching to remove the substrate. In the first part of this work, electrochemical (EC) etching of AlGaN layers with a high Al content up to 50% was demonstrated, which enabled the separation of epitaxial LED layers from their substrate while maintaining the high quality of the active region. The second key technological step was the integration of EC etching in a standard UV LED fabrication process, which required protection schemes to prevent parasitic electrochemical etching of the LED structure and the development of a device design compatible with flip-chip bonding. Finally, this work was completed by the first demonstration of a TFFC UVB LED using electrochemical etching.

Keywords: AlGaN, electrochemical etching, heterogeneous integration, light-emitting diodes, LEDs, substrate removal, thermocompression bonding, thin-film flip-chip, ultraviolet light, UVB

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following appended papers:

- [Paper A] Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Rinat Yapparov, Filip Hjort, Björn Wickman, Saulius Marcinkevičius, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund, "Electrochemical etching of AlGaN for the realization of thin-film devices," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 115, issue 18, p. 182103, 2019.
- [Paper B] Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Filip Hjort, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund, "Thin-film flip-chip UVB LEDs realized by electrochemical etching," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 116, issue 12, p. 121101, 2020.
- [Paper C] Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Martin Guttmann, Luca Sulmoni, Neysha Lobo-Ploch, Filip Hjort, Tim Kolbe, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund, "High-efficiency UVB LEDs using a thin-film flip-chip design and surface roughening," manuscript.

Related papers not included in the thesis:

- [Paper D] Filip Hjort, Johannes Enslin, Munise Cobet, Michael A. Bergmann, Johan Gustavsson, Tim Kolbe, Arne Knauer, Felix Nippert, Ines Häusler, Markus R. Wagner, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund "A 310 nm optically pumped AlGaN vertical-cavity surface-emitting laser," submitted.
- [Paper E] Joachim Ciers, Michael A. Bergmann, Filip Hjort, Jean-François Carlin, Nicolas Grandjean, and Åsa Haglund "Smooth GaN membranes by polarization-assisted electrochemical etching," manuscript.

Acknowledgment

This work would not have been possible without the support of many people.

First I would like to thank Prof. Åsa Haglund for giving me the opportunity to work on such an exciting topic. Thank you Åsa for always sharing a positive and open attitude throughout that journey and helping me to improve in all aspects of my work. That also holds for my co-supervisors Assoc. Prof. Johan Gustavsson and Assoc. Prof. Jörgen Bengtsson who were always accessible and helpful. I want to thank Prof. Anders Larsson for being my examiner and heading the photonics lab, during my first years, with his calm and prudent manner. Every workplace only functions with a good administrator and I would like to thank Jeanette Träff for helping me in every bureaucratic situation.

A large part of my research was only possible due to excellent collaborations. For the work on ultraviolet LEDs, I would like to thank Johannes Enslin, Dr. Luca Sulmoni, Martin Guttmann and Dr. Tim Wernicke from the group of Prof. Michael Kneissl at the Technische Universtät Berlin for all contributions, discussions, joint publications and much more. Thank you for organizing the yearly Heimbach Workshop, which was great place for exchange. Furthermore, I would like to thank Dr. Neysha Lobo-Ploch and Dr. Tim Kolbe at the Ferdinand-Braun-Institut in Berlin for their contributions to the work on UV LEDs. Thanks to Rinat Yapparov and Prof. Saulius Marcinkevičius from the KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm for the photoluminescene measurements. However, to get the research on electrochemical etching started, the collaboration with Assoc. Prof. Björn Wickman from the Chemical Physics at Chalmers was essential. Thank you Björn for teaching me everything about electrochemistry and to provide a great place for my experiments. Regarding our ongoing collaborative work on GaN optomechanics, I would like to thank Sushanth Kini and Asst. Prof. Witlef Wieczorek from the Quantum Technology Laboratory at Chalmers for their support. I spent countless hours in the cleanroom to fabricate my devices, which is only possible due to the excellent work of the cleanroom stuff. For the help on flip-chip bonding, I would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Dan Kuylenstierna from the Microwave Electronics Laboratory at Chalmers. I also would like to thank Mats Myremark for realizing my hardware ideas.

I want to thank everyone of Nitride team: Thank you Ehsan for helping me to get my work on Nitrides started and sharing the office. Deep gratitude goes to Filip for helping me with everything during the last years and for having a great time in the office. Thank you Joachim for sharing your Nitride knowledge and complementing the team. I also want to thank Giulia for her valuable contribution to my work.

Working in the cleanroom can sometimes be tough and I would like to thank my cleanroom mates Erik, Emanuel, Eva, Zhichao, Alexander, Mehdi and Marcello for sharing all the cleanroom knowledge and stories.

I also would like to thank everyone at the Photonics lab for making it such a nice and fruitful environment.

During my time at Chalmers, I meet great people that I spent the time with. Thank you Muhammad Asad for everying, from the time in the cleanroom to Paktistani dishes. I am thankful for all the afterworks with you Attila, Tamás and Clemens. Many thanks to everyone from the Chalmers and Mölndal rowing club for the fantastic time on the water and the rowing machine.

Throughout my whole education I have had always the full support of my family for which I am very grateful. Thank you for always being there and let me pursue my goals.

> Michael Bergmann Gothenburg, August 2020

This work was done in part at the Nanofabrication Laboratory at Chalmers University of Technology belonging to the MyFab network and the Chalmers Materials Analysis Laboratory. This work was finacially supported by the Swedish Research Council (VR), the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research (SSF), the Swedish Energy Agency, and the European Research Council.

Abbreviations

CE	Counter electrode
DBR	Distributed Bragg reflector
EC	Electrochemical
EQE	External quantum efficiency
DLW	Direct laser writing
FC	Flip-chip
LED	Light-emitting diode
LEE	Light extraction efficiency
LLO	Laser-induced lift-off
MOVPE	Metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy
РСЕ	Power conversion efficiency
PEC	Photoelectrochemical
QCSE	Quantum-confined stark effect
RE	Reference electrode
RIE	Reactive-ion etching
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
TD	Threading dislocations
TFFC	Thin-film flip-chip
TLM	Transmission line measurement
UV	Ultraviolet
UVB	Ultraviolet-B
WE	Working electrode

Contents

	Abstract	i	
	List of papers	iii	
	Acknowledgment	v	
	Abbreviations	vii	
1	Introduction	1	
2	Properties of III-nitrides		
3 UV light-emitting diodes		7	
	3.1 LED efficiency	8	
	3.2 TFFC designs	10	
4	Heterogeneous integration of AlGaN/GaN	13	
	4.1 Methods for substrate removal		
	4.2 General considerations for transferring epitaxial layers	17	
	4.3 Tether design	18	
	4.4 Strain considerations	19	
	4.5 Methods for bonding	19	
	4.6 Choice of carrier material	21	
5	Device release using electrochemical etching	23	
	5.1 Electrochemical etching of AlGaN	23	

Contents

	5.2	Etching conditions for device lift-off	26
	5.3	Sample design to avoid parasitic etching	29
	5.4	Electrical connection to the sample	31
	5.5	Process control of electrochemical etching	33
6	TFF	C UVB LEDs realized by electrochemical etching	37
	6.1	Epitaxial design	38
	6.2	Device process	38
7	Sun	nmary and future directions	43
	7.1	Summary	43
	7.2	Future directions	44
8	Summary of papers		49
	Bib	liography	52
	Pap	ers A–C	67

Chapter 1

Introduction

The most important technologies today are invisible and taken for granted. The replacement of incandescent light bulbs with white light-emitting diodes (LED)s and the use of white LEDs as camera lights in smartphones, has brought GaN technology into everyone's home and pockets. The energy efficiency, lifetime and ease of use of these devices shows their significance [1].

This year, in 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has reached almost every country of the planet earth as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO) [2]. Therefore, methods to disinfect surfaces, air and liquids are of great importance. Ultraviolet light with a wavelength between 280nm and 210nm can be used stop the reproduction of microorganisms such as bacteria, spores and viruses [3]. AlGaNbased ultraviolet (UV) LEDs can meet the requirements for these applications both in wavelength and in exposure dose. Compared to the predominant and conventional Hg-lamps used for disinfection, LEDs provide a small form-factor, have a long lifetime and are environmentally friendly by not using mercury.

Besides sterilization in the UVC (280 nm to 100 nm) wavelength range to combat the pandemic and for water purification, UV light has many more applications such as optical lithography, 3D printing and resin curing in the UVA (400 nm to 320 nm) and plant lighting and skin treatment of psoriasis in the UVB (320 nm to 280 nm) [4].

However, in order to benefit from using UV LEDs for such applications, the devices have to be energy efficient resulting in low cost. Whereas blue-emitting GaN-based

LEDs show an electrical to optical conversion efficiency of close to 90% [5], AlGaNbased UV-emitting LEDs are still below 10%. The largest obstacle to realize efficient LEDs is to extract the photons that are generated in the active region from the device. Even for highly-efficient state-of-the-art UVC LEDs, still only 16% of the photons are extracted and thereby useful for any application [3]. This is in contrast to blueemitting LEDs, for which around 90% of the photons are extracted. Unfortunately, device concepts that are used for highly efficient GaN-based devices such as thin-film flip-chip (TFFC) LEDs are not easily realized for AlGaN-based devices.

This work

In this work we demonstrate electrochemical etching as a way to fabricate TFFC UVB LEDs. In [Paper A], we found suitable etching conditions to achieve a device lift-off which is necessary for a TFFC design. We also showed that transferred epitaxial LED layers maintained the quality of the active region. This formed the basis for [Paper B] with the first demonstration of a TFFC UVB LED using electrochemical etching to remove the substrate. In [Paper C], we show TFFC UVB LEDs with an improved performance using a coplanar contact scheme and surface roughening to enhance the light extraction.

In Chapter 2, the most important properties of III-nitrides are discussed and their consequences for the realization of LEDs. Chapter 3, identifies the factors that limit the power conversion efficiency of UV LEDs and describes the structure of efficient LEDs employing a TFFC design. Chapter 4 describes different potential methods for the fabrication of TFFC UVB LEDs and in detail focuses on implications from using electrochemical etching. The working principle of electrochemical etching is explained in Chapter 5 and includes how it is implemented both in the device design and process hardware. Finally in Chapter 6, the key building blocks of the realized TFFC UVB LEDs are presented, which is concluded by Chapter 7 with a summary of the work and future directions.

Chapter 2

Properties of III-nitrides

Crystal structure and built-in polarization fields

AlN, GaN, InN and their ternary and quarternary compounds belong to the III-nitride material group, i.e. group III in the periodic system combined with nitrogen. The thermodynamically stable phase of these materials is the wurtzite crystal structure. Wurtzite consists of two interpenetrating hexagonal close-packed sublattices, one with group III material and one with group V. The unit cell of a wurtzite crystal is shown in Fig. 2.1(a) and the lattice constants, a and c, define the hexagonal Bravais lattice. The c-plane, which is the most common growth plane, is indicated in red. Due to the different electronegativity of group III (Al, Ga, In) and group V elements (N), the metal-N bonds form dipoles leading to spontaneous polarization fields, P_0 , along the bonds as illustrated in Fig. 2.1(b). In unstrained layers, the in-plane components of the spontaneous polarization fields of each tetrahedron cancel out as do the vertical components, and as a result the overall spontaneous polarization is zero. However, III-nitrides deviate slightly from an ideal tetrahedron, i.e. have a non-ideal c/a ratio, and due to the lack of an inversion symmetry plane in the wurtzite crystal structure in the c-direction the material have built-in spontaneous polarization fields along the c-direction. If strain is applied to the crystal, the vertical components of the local polarization fields changes and they do not compensate each other in the same way. This results in what is referred to piezoelectric polarization fields and together with the spontaneous polarization gives the overall polarization fields in the crystal. Since the III-nitrides experience strong piezoelectric and spontaneous



Figure 2.1: (a) A unit cell of the wurzite crystal structure and (b) schematic representation of an ideal GaN tetrahedron.

polarization fields, a heterostructure will experience different built-in fields depending upon strain and its compositions. The built-in fields can greatly affect the band structure and accumulation and depletion of charges, thus affecting both optical and electrical properties.

Optical properties

III-nitride alloys based on AlN, GaN and In have a direct band gap that reaches from 0.6 - 0.8 eV for InN to 6.1 - 6.2 eV for AlN at room temperature [6]. If double heterostructures, such as a quantum wells, are grown on the c-plane, the built-in polarization fields will lead to band bending across the quantum well that red-shifts the emission wavelength, an effect called the Quantum Confined Stark Effect (QCSE). The bandbending also results in a spatial separation of the electron and hole wave functions, which reduces their overlap and thereby the radiative recombination rate. At higher carrier densities, the built-in polarization fields are screened, which mitigates the QCSE.

The electronic band structure further determines the polarization of the emitted light, determining if it is dominated by transverse electric or transverse magnetic polarized light. For a band structure that yields an emission wavelength of about 240 nm there is a valance band switching which results in an emission pattern where photons mainly propagate parallel to the c-plane for shorter emission wavelengths [7].

This drastically reduces the light extraction through the c-plane and both strain and Al-compositions are therefore being explored to improve the fraction of transverse electric polarized light for short wavelength UV LEDs [8].

Electrical properties

To realize electro-optical devices such as LEDs, p- and n-doped layers are needed to efficiently inject holes and electrons in the active region for recombination. The realization of p-doping has been challenging so far, because magnesium which is the most common p-dopant gets passivated during growth by hydrogen when grown by metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy (MOVPE) and therefore requires post-growth activation. In addition, the ionization energy of 0.2 eV for the Mg acceptor in GaN and 0.4 eV for the Mg acceptor in AlN [9], makes it a deep acceptor and therefore high dopant concentrations are necessary to achieve a sufficiently high hole density. Holes have a much lower carrier mobility than electrons and therefore current spreading in p-GaN is greatly reduced, and the resistivity of p-doped material is thus much higher, which has to be considered in the device design. The large difference between holes and electrons when it comes to mobilities and concentrations makes it hard to achieve a vertically uniform carrier distribution among the QWs. The large band offsets and built-in polarization fields add additional challenges to this task. The carrier distribution can be improved by preventing an electron overflow to the p-side through introducing a potential barrier in the conduction band in the form of a higher bandgap material on top of the OWs on the p-side, a so called electron blocking layer.

Thermal properties

In semiconductors, heat is mainly conducted by acoustic phonons and therefore depends on dislocations and impurities [10]. The binary materials GaN and AlN have very high thermal conductivities, while AlGaN has significantly lower thermal conductivity due to the induced disordering by an alloy. Minimum thermal conductivity is obtained for Al contents of around 60% [10]. UVB LEDs mostly consist of AlGaN layers with an Al content close to 50% indicating the importance of a good thermal design for these devices.

Chapter 3

UV light-emitting diodes

Within a given set of requirements like emission peak wavelength or process complexity, LEDs are mainly judged by their energy efficiency. Therefore, important figure of merits for LEDs are the power conversion efficiency (PCE) and the external quantum efficiency (EQE). The PCE is the ratio between emitted optical power and electrical input power, whereas the EQE gives the ratio between the number of emitted photons and the number of electrons passing through the device. The PCE includes voltage losses due to electrical resistance at the metal-semiconductor contacts as well as in the semiconductor layers. The following equation relates the PCE η_{PCE} with the EQE η_{EQE} based on the operation voltage of the LED V, the elementary charge *e* and the photon energy $\hbar\omega$ [11].

$$\eta_{\rm PCE} = \eta_{\rm EQE} \times \frac{\hbar\omega}{e \times V} \tag{3.1}$$

Despite the tremendous improvement of blue-emitting GaN-based LEDs over the last decades with power conversion efficiencies reaching up to 84% and external quantum efficiencies over 90% [5], the EQE for UV LEDs still does barely exceed 10% [3]. The highest reported EQE for UVB LEDs, that are within the scope of this thesis, is 6% [7, 12].



Figure 3.1: Schematic of a TFFC LED with the parts highlighted that influence the EQE.

3.1 LED efficiency

To understand the low EQE, it is important to separate the parts that constitute the EQE. The EQE can be broken down into the injection efficiency $\eta_{\text{injection}}$, the radiative recombination efficiency $\eta_{\text{radiative}}$ and the light-extraction efficiency (LEE) $\eta_{\text{extraction}}$.

$$\eta_{\text{EQE}} = \eta_{\text{injection}} \times \eta_{\text{radiative}} \times \eta_{\text{extraction}}$$
(3.2)

To increase the EQE, each efficiency has to be optimized. In high-performing AlGaN LEDs with emission in the UVC, the injection efficiency is about 80%, the radiative efficiency 50% and the light extraction efficiency 16% [3]. The most important parts that influence the EQE are highlighted in Fig. 3.1 that shows an LED in a TFFC design. The TFFC design gives the highest flexibility in the device design because it allows access to both the n-side and p-side. Therefore, both light and heat extraction schemes can be implemented [13].

The injection efficiency $\eta_{injection}$ is a measure of how many of the electrons that pass through the device actually reach the quantum wells. In order to confine the electrons to the active region, the epitaxial structure contains an electron blocking layer (a high Al-containing AlGaN-layer) above the quantum wells on the p-side. This prevents an overflow of electrons from the n-side to p-side. To achieve a uniform carrier injection into the active region, current spreading on the n- and p-side is important. Due to the low mobility of holes, it is necessary to employ a continuous metal p-contact layer. Electrons and holes that reach the quantum wells can either recombine radiatively or non-radiatively and the ratio between these recombination mechanisms is expressed by the radiative recombination efficiency, $\eta_{radiative}$. $\eta_{radiative}$ is mainly influenced by threading dislocations (TD) and points defects that are incorporated during epitaxial growth [3]. UVA-LEDs with low Al content can be grown on GaN/sapphire templates or freestanding GaN-substrates [14]. UVC LEDs with a high Al can be grown either on AlN/sapphire templates [15] or freestanding AlN-substrates [16]. The use of native substrates yields a low TD density which leads to a high IQE. However, the growth of UVB LEDs on AlN/templates requires buffer layers to mitigate the strain due to the lattice-mismatch and to reduce defects close to the active region [17].

Light extraction

Photons that are generated in the active region have to be extracted from the device to be usable. However, the LEE is limited by total internal reflection and absorption in the semiconductor and metal layers. The absorption is strongly affected by the epitaxial p-(Al)GaN layers and the metallization on the p-side. For UVB LEDs, a thin p-GaN contact layer is often used as a trade-off between achieving a low contact resistance and a low optical absorption [18]. A continuous p-metal contact has to be formed to inject current over the whole active region area due to the poor current spreading on the p-side. To increase the light-extraction, the reflectivity of this metal p-contact should be maximized. It has however been challenging so far to find a suitable metal stack that has both a high reflectivity and yields a low contact resistance. To mitigate the impact from absorption in the p-contact layer on the LEE, reflective photonic crystal structures have been integrated at the interface to the contact layer [19]. In this thesis, 50-nm Pd p-contacts with a reflectivity of around 42% at 305 nm have been used [18, 20]. The impact of absorbing layers on the light extraction is enhanced by reflections at material boundaries and device surfaces. Fig. 3.2(a) illustrates that for a planar LED and only a fraction of the emitted light can escape the device due to total internal reflection, which is defined by the extraction cone. The critical angle θ_{crit} that defines the extraction cone depends on the refractive index of the AlGaN, n_{AlGaN} , and air, n_{air} , and is given by the following equation [11].

$$\theta_{\rm crit} = \arcsin\left(\frac{n_{\rm air}}{n_{\rm AIGaN}}\right)$$
 (3.3)

Fig. 3.2 only shows the surface emission from the LED, thus only one of the potential six extraction cones. However, light is usually also extracted from other surfaces



Figure 3.2: Light-extraction from an LED with (a) a flat surface and (b) a textured surface.

such as the edge of the LED chip [21]. The edge-emission becomes more important for small-area LEDs as well as short-wavelength LEDs where a large fraction of the generated light is transverse magnetically polarized and thereby propagates in-plane with the QWs. The distribution between transverse magnetic and transverse electric polarized light is determined by the Al composition and strain of the active region which need to be taken into account when optimizing the light extraction efficiency [21]. Shaping the LED die has been demonstrated to improve the light extraction [5, 22], but requires more complex dicing procedures. Refractive index matched substrates such as GaN-substrates for GaN-based blue LEDs, eliminates reflections at the LED/substrate interface and allows for full use of the extraction cones at the four edges of the LED. Unfortunately, AlGaN bulk substrates that would be required for implementing the same concept for UVB LEDs are not available. To reduce the influence of the planar AlN/sapphire interface, patterned sapphire substrates have been used [23].

TFFC LEDs offer an increased light extraction efficiency by removing the substrate, thereby avoiding reflections at the AlGaN/sapphire interface, and texturing the AlGaN surface. Due to the angular dependence of the reflections, surface texturing helps to achieve an incidence angle close to the surface normal for an increased extraction, see Fig. 3.2(b). The improvement due to surface texturing has been shown for a number of UV LEDs [24–29].

3.2 TFFC designs

In a TFFC design, the LED is bonded on the p-side and the n-side is roughened, which is enabled by the substrate removal. Such devices can be realized using dif-



Figure 3.3: Comparison of different contacting schemes for TFFC LEDs.

ferent contact schemes as shown in Fig. 3.3.

For all three types A-C, a similar active region area can be achieved. To take full advantage of the TFFC design and the potentially high light-extraction, a transparent p-side and a reflective p-contact have to be used. Type A has the drawback that the p-contact together with buried metal bonding layers can be heavily affected by the n-contact annealing, with is done in a later step. Therefore type A doesn't allow a proper annealing scheme. In addition, due to the top n-contact, probing has to be done directly on the device or by wire-bonding, which can deteriorate the thin-film device due to the mechanical force. However, the advantage of type A is the simple mesa design and the simple bonding process. Therefore, the first demonstration of a TFFC UVB LED within this work, shown in [Paper B], is based on a type A design.

It is important to note that the n-contact for type A is on the N-polar surface for metal polar growth, whereas for type B and C, the n-contact is formed on the metal-polar surface. If the substrate removal process includes an etch stop layer, the n-contact is either deposited on that layer or the etch stop layer needs to be removed before the contact deposition.

Both type B and type C allow a proper order of the metallization steps with decreasing process temperatures. For the devices demonstrated in this work, the n-contact requires the highest process temperature during the annealing with up to 900 °C followed by the Pd p-contact with temperatures up to 600 °C. The Au-Au thermocompression bonding is done after these steps at a temperature of 300 °C. The advantage of type B is that after the flip-chip bonding only the surface roughening as the last process steps remains, whereas type C additionally requires a dry etching step to expose the p-contact and potential wire bonding. Regarding the flip-bonding complexity, type B requires a structured carrier wafer and an aligned bonding process.

From a thermal perspective, type A and type B have no dielectric layers between the active region as the main heat source and the substrate. Type C requires a dielectric layer to separate the n- and p-contact layers.

Challenge

The realization of a TFFC design requires substrate removal to texture the AlGaN surface. Despite the demonstration of several TFFC UV LEDs [24–33], substrate removal is not yet done in a straight forward way. The different methods that have been explored for substrate removal together with their associated challenges will be outlined in more detail in the next chapter.

Chapter 4

Heterogeneous integration of AlGaN/GaN

One of the driving factors of the continuous development of semiconductor devices, not only LEDs, is to improve the performance. In order to maximize the device performance, the most suitable materials for each part of the device have to be chosen. However, in many cases these materials cannot be combined using a monolithic design. Whereas metal or dielectric layers can be fabricated using additive processes, epitaxial layers require a proper substrate to be grown on. Therefore, the integration of thin epitaxial layers, requires substrate removal and a transfer process, as illustrated in Fig. 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Heterogeneous integration of the epitaxial layers using a layer transfer process.

There are basically two different ways to separate epitaxially grown device layers from their substrate, either by the use of an epitaxially grown sacrificial layer from the same material system as the device layer or by the use of a different material in the sacrificial layer (or the full substrate) that is more easily removed. A third possibility is to grind away the substrate and thereby expose the epitaxially grown layers. Ideally the separation method should not affect the separated device layers and should yield a surface roughness close to that of the as-grown epitaxial surface in order to be used for device structures like optical resonators, photonic crystals and waveguides. In addition, the substrate removal process should be compatible with the overall device process and should be preferably done in a cleanroom environment. The use of an AlGaN sacrificial layer is preferred for AlGaN devices since it will not affect the quality of the device layers grown on top of the sacrificial layer.

4.1 Methods for substrate removal

Substrate removal to transfer epitaxial layers is used for a variety of material systems such as InP [34] and GaAs [35], where wet etching is usually employed to selectively dissolve sacrificial layers and enable the transfer. Unfortunately wet etching is not easily applied to the AlGaN material system due to its chemical inertness [36]. Therefore, alternative ways to achieve substrate removal are being explored.

Laser-induced lift-off (LLO) is as a common method to separate GaN-based LEDs from their sapphire substrate. It is based upon thermal decomposition of the GaN at the sapphire substrate interface induced by optical absorption of a high power laser beam illuminating from the backside of the sapphire substrate (see Figure 4.2) [37]. LLO has been demonstrated for both wafer-scale epitaxial layer transfers and for single device transfer [38, 39]. The resulting surface roughness of a few nanometers does not degrade the LED performance in general, but it limits the applicability of this method to devices which require optically smooth surfaces [40]. In addition, achieving an accurate thickness control of the separated layers is difficult because the decomposition can take place in an extended region of the interfacial GaN layer. Post-processing using chemical mechanical polishing presents a possibility to reduce the roughness, but setting the exact thickness remains a challenging task and can only be applied on a wafer-level [41] or larger areas but not for individual devices. Whereas LLO works for GaN-based LEDs within the aforementioned limitations, thermal decomposition has been proven to be challenging when applied to AlGaN [30]. The decomposition of AlGaN yields additional Al residues which are more



Figure 4.2: Thermal decomposition by laser induced lift-off.

difficult to remove than just Ga residues in the case of GaN and the higher laser power required to decompose AlGaN results in even a higher thermal chock to the devices which are more likely to crack due to built-in strain. Therefore, only few thin-film UV devices using LLO have been demonstrated [24–26, 28–31].

Similar to the thermal composition through optical absorption, work has been done to selectively decompose GaN layers using high temperature conditions. The etching selectivity is achieved by using different Al contents, since layers with higher Al-compositions showed a reduced etch rate. By using this method, AlGaN-based photonic crystal structures have been demonstrated by decomposing GaN layers [42, 43]. Compared to the LLO process, selective decomposition can yield a better thickness control, but the high temperatures of up to 1000 °C potentially affect many other parts of the device such as active regions and metal layers and therefore limits its use. The high process temperatures, which are similar or even higher than the epitaxial growth temperatures, could also lead to compositional changes in the semiconductor layers and diffusion of dopants.

The chemical inertness of AlGaN has been overcome by using electrochemical (EC) etching [44] and photoelectrochemical (PEC) etching [45]. These methods are based upon the generation of electrons and holes at the interface between the semiconductor and a wet etchant, and these carrier then enable an electrochemical reaction the etches the material. In EC etching, the holes are created by electron tunneling across the bandgap or avalanche breakdown induced by an applied bias voltage. The etching contrast can hereby be achieved by using both the doping level and the composition of the AlGaN, which determine the bandstructure in the interfacial region. EC etching has low requirements on the experimental setup and is compatible with existing cleanroom equipment used for processes such as electroplating. In PEC etching, the holes are generated by photoexcitation and selectivity is mainly achieved by bandgap

engineering to achieve a contrast in optical absorption [45]. The sacrificial layer is a lower bandgap material, like InGaN, surrounded by higher bandgap material such as GaN layers to limit the hole generation to the sacrificial layer. This contrast in optical absorption and confinement of carriers can be enhanced by the integration of AlGaN etch block layers to increase the bandgap step. Because the etching process requires holes, any recombination of the photogenerated carriers should be minimized. The band bending at the semiconductor electrolyte interface helps to separate electrons and holes. Since the band bending is influenced by the doping level, PEC etching is also doping selective [46]. To further increase the band bending, external bias voltages have been applied [47–51]. However, depending on the crystallographic growth direction of the epitaxial layers and the incorporated strain, carrier separation can be enhanced by the built-in spontaneous polarization and piezoelectric polarization fields. PEC etching, has been demonstrated for devices based on nonpolar and semipolar GaN but smooth etched surfaces have also been obtained for devices on c-plane GaN [47, 52, 53]. The combination of a high etching selectivity and a low surface roughness this technique offers have led to the realization of several photonic devices such as electrically injected VCSELs in the blue [52] and optically pumped cavities [47]. For both EC etching and PEC etching, the crystallographic growth direction also plays a role if the wet etchant used in the these processes leads to pure wet etching and thus an increased surface roughness. Especially in the case of PEC etching, for which KOH is the most common electrolyte, increased surface roughness with increasing concentration of the electrolyte has been demonstrated [47]. In addition to leading to a rough N-polar surface, KOH is also not compatible with several cleanroom processes [54].

As an alternative to the removal of AlGaN layers with the aforemetioned methods, sacrificial layers that could be more easily removed or allow for an exfoliation of the epitaxial layers have been investigated, see Fig. 4.3(b). The challenge for this approach is to find materials that allow the growth of high-quality epitaxial layers on top of the sacrificial layer. Nb₂N sacrificial layers, which can be removed using XeF₂ vapor etching, have been successfully integrated in a GaN epitaxial structure [55, 56]. GaN-based devices have also been separated by a mechanical transfer using BN sacrificial layers [57, 58].

Instead of integrating sacrificial layers between the device layers and the substrate, alternative substrates that can be etched more easily than III-nitride substrates have been used to enable a substrate removal. GaN-on-Si has for example been used



Figure 4.3: (a) Substrate removal using alternative substrate materials, (b) sacrificial layers from other material systems and (c) alternatively shaped substrates.

to demonstrate suspended membranes for a variety of devices [59–64]. However, the growth of GaN on silicon requires buffer layers inbetween, which could impede the device design and quality as well as the process flow. GaN-on-SiC allows for dry etching of the SiC and has led to the demonstration of thin-film UV LEDs [27, 32, 33]. Rather than growing on bulk substrates, the growth of GaN layers and GaN-based devices on sapphire nanomembranes acting as a compliant substrate have been demonstrated [65, 66]. In these works, Al layers have been transformed into a crystalline Al₂O₃ layer by high temperature annealing, which allowed for the growth of epitaxial GaN on top. Due to the possibility of shaping these nanomembranes, single devices or continuous membranes are grown and can be separated by a mechanically transfer, as shown in Fig. 4.3(c).

In this work, EC etching has been chosen because it can yield smooth etched surfaces, it provides an epitaxially defined etch stop and the AlGaN sacrificial layer allows for the growth of high-quality epitaxial device layers on top. EC etching is also a fast etch method with lateral etch rates of tens of micrometers per minute, which allows the underetching of LEDs with a size of $300 \mu m \times 250 \mu m$ in a few minutes.

4.2 General considerations for transferring epitaxial layers

In general, there are two different ways to transfer device layers between substrates. The first way is to bond these device layers to a carrier substrate, which is followed by a removal of the original substrate. The second way is to release the device layers but still keeping them in place and then transfer these device layers to a carrier substrate. Bonding the device layers first can result in a better bond because the devices are not yet released, thus planar and the applied force is more uniform. In addition, non-released devices are less prone to cracking induced by the bonding force. Especially

for transferring large-sized epitaxial layers, this is the method of choice. However, this method is associated with a number of challenges. First, the formed bond has to be compatible with the substrate removal process. For example, metal bonding layers could be etched by a chemical substrate removal or reformed if heat is generated in the removal process. Secondly, if the bonding results in a negligible gap between device substrate and the carrier substrate, this may hinder a substrate removal that requires lateral access to each of the devices. This effect becomes more severe with a scaled-up sample size [67]. If the substrate removal process yields gas evolution, tightly bonded samples can capture the generated gas, which can significantly slow down the etching process. The gas formation also leads to a pressure on the bonded samples, stressing the bonding connection.

Both problems can be solved by using the second approach where devices are released before bonding. In order to bond released device layers, the bonding method should be able to accommodate any non-planarity. Bonding on a device level also relaxes the constraints imposed by built-in strain and differences in thermal expansion coefficients between devices and substrate. It should be noted that for devices that are going to be electrically connected to the carrier substrate, such as TFFC LEDs, the substrate removal must be done before the transfer if the removal method affects exposed electrical contacts. One example of such a removal technique is electrochemical etching.

4.3 Tether design

Devices that are released from the growth substrate before bonding, must be held in place by tethers after the sacrificial layer removal, see Fig. 4.4(a), a concept that has been used for example for GaN LEDs on Si [68] and InP-based devices [34]. Common materials for tethers are photoresist layers, due the easy removal, and patterned device layers because no additional layers are required. For large area devices (> $500 \,\mu\text{m} \times 500 \,\mu\text{m}$), additional tethers inside the device area can be integrated (see Fig. 4.4(b)). Such anchors have been used to keep suspended membranes fixed to the substrate before transfer-printing [69].

In this work, the protective SiO_2 layers for the electrochemical etching are also used as tethers. This is a suitable material because it withstands both the acid used for the electrochemical etching and the solvent cleaning afterwards. The strength of the tether depends both on the layer thickness and the perimeter of the device. Dur-



Figure 4.4: (a) Tethers at the device perimeter for small devices, (b) additional anchors for larger devices.

ing the device release, the tether is further supported by an additional resist layer. As the sacrificial layer is etched, gas generation leads to an additional force on the formed membrane. Under some circumstances the tethers were not strong enough and devices detached after removing the resist layer.

4.4 Strain considerations

When fabricating large continuous membranes by removing a sacrificial layer below, buckling can occur as shown in Fig. 4.5(a)-(c). The buckling of the released top layer indicates compressive strain in the as-grown epitaxial layers. As shown in the top view image in Fig. 4.5(c) the membrane is connected to the surrounding non-underetched part and the strain cannot be fully released. To more effectively release the strain, the membrane can be patterned and attached to the surrounding layers on single points using tethers as shown in Fig. 4.5(d) and (e). The extent of the buckling depends of course on the strain state of the epitaxial layer after the growth. In this work some tethers have been broken due to strain-induced bowing of devices which resulted in too early detachment of devices. Bowing of devices can also affect the bonding quality and it is thus of importance to consider and engineer the strain. Additional layers like dielectrics that are added during the device process, can, depending on the deposition method, introduce additional strain, but could also be used for strain compensation.

4.5 Methods for bonding

In order to complete the transfer of epitaxial layers, these layers must be integrated on a carrier substrate. Depending on the function of the transferred layer, different requirements are set on the chosen method. If an electrical connection has to be



Figure 4.5: (a), Schematic cross-sectional view of the sample structure before electrochemical etching, (b) schematic of sample during electrochemical etching, (c) optical microscope image of a membrane after electrochemical etching, (d) optical microscope image of a patterned membrane, and (e) SEM image of a patterned membrane.

established between the transferred layer and the carrier substrate, direct bonding without an interlayer or metallic bonding would allow for such a connection. Depending on the placement of the bonding interface, also its optical properties have to be considered. If there is no need for an electrical connection, adhesion bonding using polymers like BCB is a possible choice but needs to be compatible with the optical design. Further the formed bond must be also compatible with any post processing in terms of chemical and thermal robustness. The surface quality also sets restrictions on which bonding method that can be applied. For samples with a high surface planarity and a low surface roughness, direct bonding can be used, while for lower-quality surfaces (induced by epitaxial growth and/or device fabrication) eutectic or adhesive bonding are the only options.

To realize TFFC LEDs, the devices need to be bonded to a carrier chip with electrical connections. This bonding contact further works as a heat sink for the bonded device. Therefore, a metal-metal thermocompression bonding is used for this work, which



Figure 4.6: Picture of (a) the used bonding fixture in a vacuum oven and (b) the flip-chip die bonder.

fulfills both criteria. Au-Au was chosen for the bonding layers due to its chemical stability and thermal conductivity. Typical bonding temperatures are in the range of 250 °C to 350 °C and bonding pressures are in the range of 1 MPa to 100 MPa [70–72]. However, unsuitable bonding conditions could potentially affect the p-contact reflectivity.

To apply the pressure for the bonding either a stainless steel fixture as shown in Fig. 4.6(a) or a commercial flip-chip die-bonder from JFP Microtechnic, shown in Fig. 4.6(b), was used. The flip-chip die bonder allows an alignment of the chip before the bonding, which is important for devices with coplanar n- and p-contacts. Whereas the bonding fixture is used for LED samples and bonding tests that have no requirement on the alignment. Furthermore, the bonding fixture can be placed in an vacuum oven to prevent air inclusions and potential oxidation of any metal layers on the sample.

4.6 Choice of carrier material

The carrier that hosts the TFFC LEDs after the bonding can be of different materials, but there are some restrictions. First, the substrate has to be suitable for the bonding process. Problems can arise from a large difference in the thermal expansion coefficient, which can lead to a cracking of the transferred devices [25]. For all devices of this work, Si substrates were used and no major cracking of LEDs, that could be ascribed to too much strain, was observed. This is facilitated by the bonding on a device level compared to transferring large-sized thin films. Second, if further processing is to be done on the LEDs on the carrier chip, the substrate material has to be

compatible. For example, wet etching for surface roughening of the LED can affect e.g. Si substrates. Third, the substrate material also influences the device performance. In the case of LEDs, the substrate functions as a heat sink and materials with a high thermal conductivity are therefore preferred. In addition, to the factors that influence the device process and performance, also the convenience factor should be considered. Si substrates allow standard processing and are relatively cheap.

Chapter 5

Device release using electrochemical etching

5.1 Electrochemical etching of AlGaN

In an AlGaN-electrolyte junction at equilibrium, the Fermi level in the AlGaN and the electrolyte adjust by exchanging electrons [73]. As a result, a space charge region forms near the interface and the semiconductor bands are bent in the AlGaN due to the built-in field (see Fig. 5.1(a)). The built-in field depends on the position of the Fermi level relative to the position of the redox level in the electrolyte before forming the junction.

By applying a bias voltage to the AlGaN sample relative to a counter electrode (CE), which are connected by an electrolyte, the Fermi level in the semiconductor is shifted and the field across the space charge region changes (see Fig. 5.1(b)). The bias voltage U_b which is applied between the AlGaN sample (called the working electrode WE) and the CE, distributes across the semiconductor, electrolyte, counter electrode, electrical contact on AlGaN and the interfaces. Therefore, the potential drop across the space charge region will be smaller than the applied voltage. In addition, processes ongoing at the counter electrode influence the electrode (RE) is commonly used in addition to the counter electrode. Such a setup is called a three-



Figure 5.1: (a), Semiconductor-electrolyte junction under equilibrium and (b) under positive bias relative to a metallic counter electrode (CE). (c), Schematic of a two-electrode setup.

electrode setup and is shown in Figure 5.2. Using a potentiostat, the potential at the working electrode (i.e. AlGaN sample) is set relative to the electrode potential of the RE and the required current for this potential is established with the CE. Therefore, the current over the reference electrode is minimized and a stable potential is achieved. The reference electrode which is used in this work is based on the Ag/AgCl reaction: $AgCl(s) \implies Ag^+ + Cl^-$ and has a well known electrode potential [74]. To reduce the resistance in the electrolyte between RE and WE, RE is placed as close as possible to WE. In addition, the counter electrode should have a sufficiently large surface that the current between WE and CE is not limited by the charge transfer on the cathode side. Depending on the application and the requirements on potential stability and accuracy, a two-electrode setup can be sufficient. When using a two-electrode setup it is important to keep the arrangement of the electrolyte.

Depending on the potential drop across the space charge region, Zener tunneling and avalanche breakdown can occur (see Fig. 5.3). In the case of Zener tunneling, valence electrons tunnel to the conduction band and thereby leaving holes behind. Avalanche breakdown creates electron-hole pairs by impact ionization in the space charge region. Due to the electric field in the space charge region, the generated holes, no matter the hole generation process, accumulate at the AlGaN/electrolyte interface. In order to achieve Zener tunneling, the applied bias voltage including the built-in potential has to be larger than the bandgap. The required bias voltage to obtain etching for AlGaN increases with the Al content as we have demonstrated in [Paper A]. Increasing the n-doping of the AlGaN reduces the required bias voltage,


Figure 5.2: (a), Schematic of a three-electrode setup and (b) photograph of the threeelectrode setup used for the electrochemical etching of AlGaN.



Figure 5.3: Illustration of (a) Zener tunneling and (b) avalanche breakdown.

since that increases the built-in field (increased Fermi level) and reduces the barrier width at the semiconductor/electrolyte junction.

The presence of holes in the semiconductor at the semiconductor/electrolyte interface effectively means that a bond has been broken between a group III element and N. Thus the oxidation of the semiconductor has been facilitated by the carrier generation caused by the applied electric field [75]. Due to the difference in the oxidation potential of GaN and water, the oxidation of GaN is more likely than the oxidation of water (see Fig. 5.4) [76]. As a result of the electrochemical decomposition of AlGaN, oxidation products can form an oxide or hydroxide depending on the electrolyte. With the goal to etch the AlGaN, the electrolyte is chosen such that formed oxides or other chemical compounds with Ga and Al are not stable [77]. Common acids are nitric acid, oxalic acid [78–80] and hydrofluoric acid [81, 82], but also neutral electrolytes like NaNO₃ were successful in electrochemical etching of GaN [83–85]. Based on the stability of the decomposition products, the overall electrochemical reaction for



Figure 5.4: Competing oxidation processes of GaN and water.

AlGaN using nitric acid, as proposed in [Paper A], is the following:

$$2Al_{x}Ga_{1-x}N + 6h^{+} \longrightarrow 2xAl^{3+} + 2(1-x)Ga^{3+} + N_{2}.$$
 (5.1)

Depending on the alignment of the valence band in the semiconductor to redox potentials in the electrolyte, additional oxidation processes can occur at the AlGaN anode (see process (1) and (2) in Fig. 5.4). For example, generated holes in the valence band can also lead to water oxidation, process (2) in Fig. 5.4 [76].

$$2 \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O} \longrightarrow \operatorname{O}_2 + 4 \operatorname{H}^+ + 4 \operatorname{e}^-.$$
(5.2)

Besides, changing the reaction and its products, the pH level of the electrolyte affects the position of the redox level and its position relative to the band edges. Therefore, the necessary potential for the dissolution of AlGaN can change [83]. Changing the concentration of the electrolyte influences the resistance in the electrolyte and the dynamics of the dissolution process can change.

5.2 Etching conditions for device lift-off

The dependency of the etching process on the material properties like doping and composition is used to create an etch selectivity and to define a sacrifical layer (see Fig. 5.5). Doping is the most commonly used property and preferential electrochemical etching of n-doped GaN over unintentionally doped GaN layers has been widely used to suspend layers and to lift-off devices [78, 86–88].

Lifting-off devices requires uniform etching of the sacrificial layer as shown in Fig. 5.5(c). That means the oxidation reaction has to happen across the entire sacrificial layer, which requires a sufficiently high hole concentration. Because the surface



Chapter 5. Device release using electrochemical etching

Figure 5.5: (a) Schematic of device on top of sacrificial layer and illustration of (b) nonuniform, and (c) uniform sacrificial layer removal.

layer of the semiconductor is not completely uniform in morphology, homogeneity and quality, etching conditions can vary locally. The morphology of the surface influences the local electrical field and the space charge region. As a result, localized spots exhibit a different behaviour and a non uniform etching is observed (see Fig. 5.5(b)). This behaviour is exploited for porous etching [78, 81, 89]. To make sure that the oxidation process proceeds in the whole sacrificial layer, the electrical field has to exceed a certain value at the whole AlGaN/electrolyte interface. This is done by choosing the right conditions with a sufficiently high doping concentration and bias voltage. The onset of the etching process can be determined by a cyclic voltammetry experiment. By sweeping the applied potential at the AlGaN anode, disolution is recognizable by the onset of a current flow. However it does not give conclusive information about uniform etching of the layer and how the etching proceeds because at the onset of the current flow, porous etching is observed. Because etching in the porous regime greatly alters the interface between the sacrificial layer and the electrolyte, a continuation at a higher voltage might be influenced. One reason is that the porous sacrificial layer increases the resistivity and thereby affect the etching conditions [90]. Therefore, the conditions for uniform etching are mostly found by an etching series with an applied constant potential.

To obtain an etch selectivity, not only doping concentration, but also material composition, such as the Al-composition of an AlGaN sacrificial layer in relation to surrounding layers can be used. It should however be noted that the voltage to achieve uniform etching of AlGaN increases with the Al content as we have shown in [Paper A]. Having both the doping and the composition as parameters to design the sacrificial layer and etch block layers gives the possibility to achieve a higher selectivity. In addition, it allows to work around limitations like such as maximum doping levels imposed by a required surface morphology.



Chapter 5. Device release using electrochemical etching

Figure 5.6: Schematic of current supply, tether and electrolyte supply in the case for (a) nearly full sacrificial layer exposure and (b) strongly limited sacrificial layer exposure.

For devices that require smooth surfaces, the etching contrast between the sacrificial layer and the etch block layer has to be maximized. That means that in the sacrificial layer at the interface to the electrolyte, the hole density should be as high as possible but should decrease abruptly at the interface to the etch block layer. To increase that contrast, sacrificial layers with an increased doping level at the interfaces have been demonstrated [91]. Using a higher Al content in the etch block layer can further reduce the hole density.

In order to achieve an uniform etching for all devices across the sample, usually a current spreading layer below the sacrificial layer is used. The doping level of the current spreading layer is chosen sufficiently high that the potential drop across the sample is not significant but still low enough to reduce parasitic etching in that layer.

In addition, to the epitaxial design, also the lateral dimensions and how the etching progresses in the sacrificial layer influences the obtained smoothness. For pure wet etching, usually the sacrificial layer is fully exposed at its perimeter to accelerate its removal. If devices are transferred after the sacrificial layers removal, single tethers on the device edges are used to keep it in place (see Fig.5.6.a). However, for electrochemical etching it is important to control not only the etchant access to the sacrificial layer but also the current supply. If not considered, this might lead to merging etch fronts which obstruct the current supply and thus inhibits the complete removal of the sacrificial layer, leaving residues behind [88, 91]. This could be detrimental for devices which require a smooth surface. This issue can be solved, as illustrated in Fig. 5.6(b), by exposing the mesa to be underetched only at one part of the perimeter, and the etch front progresses unidirectionally across the mesa without interruption. Thus minimizing residues by keeping constant etching conditions for the whole sacrificial layer removal.

5.3 Sample design to avoid parasitic etching

In the ideal case, only the sacrificial layer is removed and all surrounding layer are not affected. However, most devices contain multiple doped layer and other materials like metals that can potentially etch due to the applied positive bias potential. Therefore, there are several pathways for the parasitic electrochemical etching, which are illustrated in Fig. 5.7.



Figure 5.7: Pathways for parasitic etching.

To prevent parasitic etching of epitaxial layers and metal contacts from the top, as shown in Fig. 5.7(1) and (2), samples are usually coated by an insulation layer which also has to be stable in the electrolyte. Depending on the sample design SiO_2 or resist layers are used. Resist protection layers have the advantage of being flexible and thereby adapting to potential buckling of released membranes. In addition, thick layers are easily applied, which can cover large topographies of various materials. Afterwards, the resist can be removed by using solvents or plasma ashing.

Resist layers to protect planar structures are working well but resist layers are com-



Chapter 5. Device release using electrochemical etching

Figure 5.8: Comparison of protection layers for electrochemical etching. (a), single resist layer on top of patterned sample leading to parasitic etching and (b) SiO_2 filling the trenches leading to more controlled etching front.

monly applied using spin-coating which doesn't cover very well high mesa sidewalls. As a result, inner corners are not completely filled and provide channels for the electrolyte, indicated by the red arrows in Fig. 5.8(a), leading to parasitic etching. Figure 5.8(a) shows how the etching proceeds faster in the trenches which is attributed to a inferior filling and adhesion. In contrast, SiO₂ or SiN layers can be deposited conformally and lead to a more controlled etching front as shown in Fig 5.8(b). The resist layer on top of the SiO₂ still provides channels but these are not connected to the electrolyte. A combination of SiO₂ protective layers and resist layers have been found to be the best working solution. SiO₂ is used for the parts where coverage is essential like mesa sidewalls, and resist layers are used for parts where the insulation needs to be removed after the electrochemical etching. The device design is chosen in such a way that non-optimal sidewall coverage of the resist is not an issue.

When using doping to achieve an etching contrast, unintentionally doped layers are usually used as etch block layers. However, the etching can proceed even through such unintentionally doped layers at distinct spots if it separates n-doped layers, as illustrated in Fig. 5.7(3). This can be attributed to dislocations and is used in others work to consecutively etch stacked layers [92]. Figure 5.9(a) shows a schematic with parasitic etching occuring through the etch stop layer on top of the sacrificial layer and in the n-doped device layer on top. Figure 5.9(b) shows two SEM images with cavities etching in between the uid-GaN layers. The SEM images further show that the parasitic etching occurs at distinct spots, which is an indication for dislocations.



Figure 5.9: (a) Schematic of pentration through the etch stop layer on top of sacrificial layer and (b) SEM images showing etching of the n-doped GaN embedded inbetween uid-GaN layers.

Depending on the epitaxial structure, parasitic etching occurs in the current spreading layer by penetrating the bottom etch block layer as illustrated in Fig. 5.7(4). The etching of the current spreading layer can increase the resistance and the caused voltage drop affects the etching conditions for the sacrificial layer. This problem could be avoided by adapting the doping level and thickness of the current spreading layer.

Lastly parasitic etching can occur at the sample edges as indicated in Fig. 5.7(5), which can potentially affect the etching conditions.

5.4 Electrical connection to the sample

Because electrochemical etching depends on the band bending in the sacrificial layer that is set by the potential drop over the semiconductor-electrolyte interface, accurate setting of that potential is essential. Establishing a proper current flow between the voltage source and the sacrificial layer interface is therefore a crucial part of the device and setup design. In an ideal case, all the current is transported across the semiconductor/electrolyte interface that is intended to be etched. Thus, any parasitic exposure of current conducting parts on the AlGaN sample with the electrolyte is avoided. Especially metals, which in general require a lower potential for corrosion [77], have to be protected from the electrolyte. Therefore either the whole sample is not immersed in the electrolyte or the contact is sealed. Small-sized chips (< $10 \text{ mm} \times 10 \text{ mm}$) are difficult to partially immerse and therefore the second option is chosen in this work. In addition to the insulation, the resistance between the voltage source and the semiconductor/electrolyte interface has to be minimized to accurately set the bias potential. Especially for samples containing higher Al contents, proper n-contact formation is important.

There are several ways to establish an electrical connection to a semiconductor sample. Common methods include conductive tape [79, 81, 83, 93], conductive paste [94], In-dots [89, 95–103], wirebonding [95, 96] and clamping [104]. Because the samples undergo further processing after the electrochemical process, the electrical contacting should not leave residues which are incompatible with the subsequent steps. Especially in the case of full immersion, shielding electrical contacts by using wax or glue can be unreliable and difficult to reproduce. In order to use small sample sizes, the footprint of the connection should be minimized. In this work, spring loaded pins, which are commonly found in electrical interconnects, are used to connect to a metal contact formed on the AlGaN sample. This combination offers a reliable connection and the sample is not affected by the contacting. Figure 5.10 shows a schematic cross-sectional drawing of the sample holder including the connection to the sample. The sealing ring clamps the sample to the holder and prevents exposure of the metal connection to the electrolyte. Figure 5.11 shows an exemplary sample with the left part dedicated to the electrical connection and process control structures like transmission line measurement (TLM) patterns. The sample is designed to only expose those parts to the electrolyte that are intended to be etched. However, it is difficult to protect the sample edges and parastic etching can therefore occur. A modified sample holder, that only exposes the device area would solve such parastic etching. In addition, for such a holder, the exposed area is defined and the monitored current can lead to a better current density estimation.



Chapter 5. Device release using electrochemical etching

Figure 5.10: Schematic of the holder with a contacted sample.



Figure 5.11: Microscope image of an UV LED sample before electrochemical etching.

5.5 Process control of electrochemical etching

Process control is a very crucial part of designing cleanroom processes to obtain a reliable result.

Monitoring the current during the electrochemical process to the remove the sacrificial layer gives a direct indication if etching occurs (see equation 5.1). However, additional processes happening at the anode side such as water oxidation can affect the charge transfer across the semiconductor/electrolyte interface. Assuming that only anodic oxidation of AlGaN/GaN occurs, the amount of the dissolved layer can be calculated using Faraday's law [90]. It has been shown that for a simple sample

design, the observed current correlates well with the evolution of the surface area of the sacrificial layer [90]. However, such a calculation is challenging for samples that include different device designs and an exposure of n-doped epitaxial layers at the sample perimeter. Furthermore, parasitic etching of other materials on the sample like metals, make it even harder to predict the amount of the removed sacrificial layer. Therefore, this method is only useful when the exposed surface and the material is known.

A common way to control the extent of the electrochemical etching is to time the process. This requires a known etch rate, which can be determined in a sample series. Unfortunately, the etch rate depends not only on the epitaxial structure but also on the etch conditions and the device geometry which could limit the electrolyte supply. It has been observed that if underetched layers buckle, as shown in Fig. 4.5, the etch rate increases due to an increased gap for the electrolyte supply. Because the buckling of the released layers depends on the device design, it is difficult to predict the etching time for more complex devices. Consecutive etching with inspection of the sample in between requires a drying step after each etching step, which through capillary forces exerts a force on the membrane each time. To reduce this force, the samples can be immersed in solvent such as isopropanol and subsequently dried in air. However, if the sample design includes protective resist layers during the electrochemical etching, as described in Section 5.3, the isopropanol partially removes the resist protection and re-etching is thus not possible. Restarting the etching after each step could also impede the etching conditions and result in a different morphology of the sacrificial layer compared to if the etching is done in one continuous step.

Instead of predicting the etching time or monitoring the current, optical in-situ monitoring can be used to control the process. In addition to process control it also offers more insight into the etching behaviour. It is regularly observed that even devices of the same design require different etching times which is attributed to a nonhomogeneous current spreading across the sample. Adapting to such irregularities is impossible without in-situ monitoring. Monitoring samples in solution is challenging if the air/electrolyte interface is non-planar and the view is distorted. This is the case especially for monitoring small samples with devices close to the sample holder where the surface tension causes the electrolyte surface to rise as illustrated in Fig.5.10. To overcome this problem with a non-flat liquid surface over the sample, a special sample holder was developed with a minimal height profile allowing for it to be fully submerged near the sample, as illustrated in Fig. 5.12. The reduced



Figure 5.12: (a) Schematic of current supply and electrolyte supply with modified holder to improve distortion caused by the electrolyte surface during in in-situ monitoring, (b) picture of fully immersed sample holder yielding a flat electrolyte/air interface, and (c) picture of probe head.

distance between the sample and the electrolyte surface reduces distortions. As the solution is stirred during the etching, the resulting vortex can further lead to a turbulence in the solution impairing the view. However, the sample holder is additionally designed to break the vortex. During the etching process, gas is produced as part of the dissolution process. However, parasitic etching of metal layers usually leads to a much higher gas evolution and bubble size. The gas bubbles can stick to the sample surface and disturb the view or even prevent etching as illustrated in Fig. 5.12(a). This can be solved by gentle agitation of the solution. The bubble formation can also be supressed by adding substances to the electrolyte [50, 51, 105].

Even with the in-situ monitoring, it can be challenging to see the progress of the lateral etching because metal contact areas are blocking the view. Figure 5.13(a) shows the microscopic view on an LED array during electrochemical etching. The progress is usually still visible because underetched devices partially detach from the sample and slightly bend. Therefore, the changed reflection from these devices and cracks in the protective layer around the mesa compared to before the etching, as



Figure 5.13: Microscopic view on (a) LED array during electrochemical etching, (b) non-released LED, and (c) released LED.

shown in Fig.5.13(b), can be observed (see Fig. 5.13(c)).

Chapter 6

TFFC UVB LEDs realized by electrochemical etching

The device design for TFFC LEDs using a lift-off based on electrochemical etching, consists of two principle parts: The first part is the LED including passivation and metallization, and the second part includes the layers that are required to achieve the lift-off. The goal is hereby to make these two parts as independent as possible to achieve the maximum performance of the LED and at the same time achieve a reliable release of the LED.

Therefore, the ideal sacrificial layer does not influence the crystal quality of the layers grown on top. The epitaxial structures used for the UVB LEDs in this work, mainly have layers with an Al content of around 50% and it is preferred to have the same Al content in the sacrificial layer. We have shown in [Paper A] that by choosing the right etching conditions, AlGaN layers with up to 50% Al can be completely removed. However, that result has to be treated with caution because not only the selectivity to the etch block layer has to be considered but also to other exposed devices layers, which can depending on the device design not completely be protected.

6.1 Epitaxial design

Based on the AlGaN etching series from [Paper A], first generation devices as demonstrated in [Paper B] used a sacrificial layer with 37% Al content. The 37% Al is sufficiently high to allow on-wafer testing for which the light is outcoupled through the substrate but it is low enough to allow a reliable electrochemical etching. For second generation devices, a sacrificial multi-layer with alternating $Al_{0.11}Ga_{0.89}N/Al_{0.37}Ga_{0.63}N$ layers was chosen to further facilitate the etching while maintaining an excellent growth quality.

To confine the electrochemical etching, the sacrificial layer was enclosed between etch block layers. Ideally, the top etch block layer is unintentionally doped to reduce parasitic etching into n-doped LED layers. However, depending on the TFFC design, the n-contact is formed on the top etch stop layer after flip-chip bonding as shown in [Paper B]. In such case, both the top and the bottom etch block layer were doped with $[Si] = 0.5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$. In the later device generation with coplanar contacts as demonstrated in [Paper C], the top etch stop layer had no intentional doping. In all device generations, the bottom etch block layer was doped to $[Si] = 0.5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ to reduce any voltage drop during the electrochemical etching.

All samples shown in this work used a doping level of $[Si] = 2 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in the current spreading layer for EC etching.

6.2 Device process

Electrochemical release

The sacrificial layer was removed using electrochemical etching. Due to the lack of visual in-situ monitoring for early device generations, the etching time was chosen based on previous experiments and by monitoring the etching current. Etching for a longer time than required should not affect the etched surface because once the sacrificial layer is removed, the thin-film device is electrically disconnected. The lateral progression of the electrochemical etching of second generation devices that are presented in [Paper C] was monitored in-situ, as described in Section 5.5.

To keep the complexity of the LED fabrication process low, only a double mesa design was employed, which cannot protect all doped layers on top of the sacrificial layer, as shown in Fig. 6.1(a). Therefore the current spreading layer of the LEDs



Figure 6.1: Incomplete protection of conductive layers using double-mesa design: (a) Before and (b) after the electrochemical etching.

can porosify laterally, which eventually leads to etching of the metal n-contact, as illustrated in Fig. 6.1(b). In this case, the enhanced etch rate of these metal layers results usually in a fully removed n-contact, which made the device unusable.

After electrochemical etching, the sample were immersed in de-ionized water to dissolve acids residues and the resist layer was stripped using acetone and isopropanol. In between the cleaning steps, the sample should stay immersed to prevent stiction and moving of the thin-film LED devices. After the sacrificial layer removal, the thinfilm devices were only held by tethers and absolutely no process was done that applied any force on the membrane. The solvent cleaning frequently left resist residues because no agitation was used. O_2 plasma to further reduce the resist residues has lead to the detachment of single LEDs on first generation sample runs, which might have been caused by air streams during the venting of the process chamber. To prepare the sample for the flip-chip bonding, UV-ozone cleaning was used to remove remaining organic residues. No further detachment of devices at that stage was observed.

Tether design

In order to increase the tether strength, the mesa perimenter was increased by using a fin-like structure as highlighted by the white line in Fig. 6.2(b) and (c). To further increase the tether area, additional anchors were formed within the device area (see Fig. 6.2(c)). Despite the improved tether design, devices still moved after the removal of the protective resist. Future devices should use an improved tether design and material to achieve a higher device yield after electrochemical etching and sample cleaning. Thicker SiO₂ layers exceeding 1 μ m could increase the strength but become impractical for deposition and patterning. Using more anchors within



Figure 6.2: Comparison of different mesa designs with (a) a rectangular shape, (b) a rectangular shape and fins on the perimeters and (c) additional tethers within the device area. The white line highlights the outline of the mesa.

the devices reduces the device area and potentially affects the lateral removal of the sacrificial layer.

Carrier design and bonding

First generation TFFC LEDs based on type A, used a continuous Ti/Au bonding layer on the Si carrier. However, later TFFC LED generations required structured carriers to achieve a type B TFFC design. The carrier wafers were based on 3-inch Si wafers with a thermal oxide to insulate the individual bondpads. Whereas carrier chips that are used only for TFFC LEDs allow contacting at the individual LEDs, a carrier wafer for measuring FC-LEDs further requires metal lines to contact single LEDs which are buried below the sapphire substrate. To prevent short-circuits of the final devices, a SiO_2 layer is deposited on the metal lines. Due to the poor adhesion of the SiO₂ layer on the metal lines, a Ti interlayer between the Au of the metal lines and the SiO₂ is used. The first carrier chips to test flip-chip bonding used Ti/Au (10/600 nm) bondpads, which did not properly work if there were any particle preventing a sufficient contact. Therefore later generations employed electroplated Au bonding pads. To compensate for small deviations in height of the bondpads as well as not perfect leveling during bonding, the bondpads on the carrier chip are electroplated to a thickness of 3 µm to 4 µm. Electroplated bondpads on the device side are avoided because the required seed layer needs to be sputtered across all devices and the subsequent ion-milling to remove the seedlayer could be challenging.

Bonding tests have shown that the bonding force of the used flip-chip bonder is too little deform the continuous bondpads that covered full devices. As a result, the



Figure 6.3: (a) Cross-sectional SEM image of incomplete thermocompression bond and (b) SEM image of bonding pillar array.

bonding is incomplete and leaves an airgap between TFFC LED and the carrier, which is shown in Fig. 6.3(a). It also shows the significant surface roughness of the electroplated bondpad. To increase the pressure during bonding, the bondpad area on the carrier side was reduced by using bonding pillars with a diameter of 15 μ m as shown in Fig. 6.3(b). Bonding pillars also showed an improved deformation during the bondpad spreads across the whole active region area of the TFFC LED to maximize the heat conduction to the substrate. As a last step, the carrier wafer was diced into 10 mm × 10 mm samples for the chip-level bond and a convenient sample handling for subsequent processing.

Roughening

The TFFC design provides access to the N-polar top surface of the LED for surface texturing, which is usually achieved using KOH, to increase the light extraction. Because only a number of LEDs per chip were roughened, a lithography step is done to protect the LEDs which should not be roughened. For the exposure, direct laser writing (DLW) was used to prevent damage of the bonded devices due to contact lithography. DLW also gives the flexibility in the exposure pattern, which needs to be adjusted if the position of LEDs after transferring deviates from the mask design. It was observed that already the development to expose single LEDs caused a major roughening of the N-polar surface. Therefore, it was decided only use the TMAH-based developer for further roughening, which yielded a surface texture as shown in Fig. 6.4(a) and (b). Because the resist development did not proceed completely



Figure 6.4: (a) SEM image of partially roughened N-polar AlGaN surface and (b) single cones achieved by the wet etching.

homogeneous, also the surface roughening proceeded inhomogeneously. Therefore, single devices showed a different degree of surface roughening. To avoid inhomogeneous roughening by separating development and roughening, a developer should be chosen that does not attack the surface.

The easy roughening of the N-polar AlGaN surface has to be kept in mind when doing lithography steps using a TMAH-based developer on the N-polar surface.

Chapter 7

Summary and future directions

7.1 Summary

This work has demonstrated the realization of TFFC UVB LEDs based on substrate removal using electrochemical etching of AlGaN. Key steps that enabled such a substrate removal were the development of electrochemical etching of AlGaN with up to 50% Al-content and measures in epitaxial and device design to prevent parasitic etching of the LED. In addition, device structures such a tethers and bonding layer to enable flip-chip bonding were developed.

In the study to find suitable conditions to etch AlGaN with different Al-composition, shown in [Paper A], it was found that AlGaN with up to 50% Al content can be completely etched using 0.3 M nitric acid at a bias voltage of 30 V.

This formed the basis to develop a substrate removal technique for UVB LEDs with a proper encapsulation of the doped device layers and metal contacts to prevent parasitic etching, as demonstrated in [Paper B] and [Paper C]. Using a sacrificial layer with alternating low and high Al contents resulted in a reliable and complete removal of the sacrificial layer while still offering the growth of a high crystal quality device structure on top of the sacrificial layer. An in-situ monitoring setup allowed for improved process control to time the etching and gave further insights into the etching process to study etching delays, homogeneity, parasitic etching and bubble formation. Parasitic etching was prevented by a combination of an epitaxially grown etch block layer between the device layers and the sacrificial layers. A protective SiO_2 /resist layer on top of the devices was used to prevent the contacts from being exposed to the electrolyte and to encapsulate conducting n- and p-doped device layers. By choosing a proper mesa design, a controlled unidirectional etching across the device was accomplished, which minimized etch residues.

Based on the aforementioned process development, UVB LEDs with a coplanar contacting scheme were fabricated. Flip-chip thermocompression bonding based on Au-Au bonding layers was used to achieve a multi device transfer to a metallized Si carrier chip. The device process of the thin-film flip-chip LED was completed by surface roughening using TMAH-based wet etching, which lead to an enhancement in the emission power in the order of 45%. These result are included in [Paper C].

7.2 Future directions

UVB LEDs

We have developed a new technology platform to realize thin-film flip-chip UVBs with the potential to greatly improve the light extraction efficiency in these devices. To push the power conversion efficiency of these devices to that of the power efficient blue LEDs, efforts and progress are required in all areas highlighted in Fig. 3.1 as well as in improving the voltage efficiency. Our demonstration of TFFC UVB LEDs through electrochemical etching are the first of their kind, thus leaving some room for improvement in for example process yield, optimized surface roughness, highly reflective p-contacts, and an optically transparent p-side of the LED to use the full potential of the method to increase the light extraction efficiency.

To increase the process yield, both the prevention of parasitic etching of the LED and the bonding uniformity must be improved. To fully prevent parasitic etching, all doped LED layers should be encapsulated and that would require a three-step mesa instead of the two-step mesa used in this work. However, to make this TFFC approach appealing, one should not increase the process complexity by introducing another lithography and dry etch step. A way to achieve a three-step mesa with only two dry-etch steps that overlap to achieve a third depth, is illustrated in Fig. 7.1(a) to (c). Note that for this concept to work, the step height between the epitaxial top surface and n-contact LED layer must be larger than the step height between top etch block and bottom etch block layer.



Chapter 7. Summary and future directions

Figure 7.1: A two etch steps process to achieve a three-step mesa required to fully protect the doped LED layers during electrochemical etching. (a) First dry etch step. (b) Second dry etch step. (c) All doped LED and metal layers are fully encapsulated between SiO₂, photoresist and unintentionally doped AlGaN layers.

Aligned bonding is crucial for advanced device designs and post-processing of transferred devices. However, incomplete bonding reduces the device yield and degrades device performance. In TFFC LEDs, the bond keeps the devices in place but is also crucial for current injection and heat sinking. In lasers, that operate at much higher current densities than LEDs (kA/cm² instead of 10's of A/cm²), heat sinking is even more important. Thus improving the bonding by optimizing the uniformity of the bonding pressure and choice of the bonding layers will be required for high performing devices.

Surface roughening has clearly shown to be important to increase the light extraction efficiency. In our devices there is room for improvement in optimizing the surface structures as well as in achieving the same degree of roughness across all exposed devices during the wet etching. We used photolithography to selectively roughen a few devices at a time, but the TMAH-based developer also roughened the devices leaving less flexibility in optimizing the surface roughness.

To fully benefit from a TFFC design and boost the LEE, both a fully transparent pside of the LED as well as a highly reflective p-side are desired. Tunnel junctions could offer a solution to both. They allow for the use of an n-doped transparent current spreading AlGaN-layer on top of the LED structure instead of a poorly conductive and optically absorbing p-GaN/AlGaN and thereby gives more flexibility in the contact shape and placement. Low resistive contacts are also easier to form on n-AlGaN than p-AlGaN. By decoupling the electrical contact from the desired high reflectivity of the p-side leaves many more options for the reflector material being either metal or multi-layered dielectrics such as a distributed Bragg reflector (DBR).

Electrochemical etching of high Al-containing AlGaN and the realization of TFFC UVC LEDs

Many important applications such as water purification require ultraviolet light in the UVC wavelength range. Therefore, extending the developed device platform towards shorter wavelength is crucial. In such UVC LEDs, usually Al contents above 50% are needed and suitable conditions for the electrochemical etching need to be explored to achieve a substrate removal. To facilitate the electrochemical etching for these high Al contents, demonstrated concepts such as the multilayered sacrificial layer is a promising solution but needs further refinement.

New and improved devices enabled by electrochemical etching of AIGaN

The demonstration of selective lateral etching of AlGaN opens up many new possibilities for devices besides LEDs. The TFFC technology platform that has been developed for UVB LEDs can for example enable electrically-injected UV VCSELs with a double dielectric DBR scheme. This is a device concept that circumvents the increasing difficulty of achieving high reflectivity broadband epitaxial DBRs in AlGaN with increasing Al-content. The ability of the technology to lift-off very smooth doped AlGaN-membranes with precise thickness control could also be explored for embedded AlGaN waveguides for UV photonic integrated circuits where also the non-linear properties of AlGaN could be utilized. It would also be of interest to create free-hanging mechanical, opto-mechanical or micro-electro-mechanical or electro-opto-mechanical systems benefiting from the piezoelectric properties of AlGaN, its wide transparency window and chemical inertness with the ability to withstand harsh environments. The technology could also be used to create highquality high-power high-electron mobility transistors that could be placed on any material of choice with a high thermal conductivity. This is just the beginning of the realization and utilization of AlGaN membranes for a wide variety of devices based on this technology platform.

Chapter 8

Summary of papers

Paper A

Electrochemical etching of AlGaN for the realization of thin-film devices

Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Rinat Yapparov, Filip Hjort, Björn Wickman, Saulius Marcinkevičius, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund

Applied Physics Letters, vol. 115, issue 18, p. 182103, 2019.

First time demonstration of complete electrochemical etching of a sacrificial AlGaN layer with up to 50% Al-composition. The sacrificial AlGaN-layer morphology after electrochemical etching depends on the applied etch voltage in a similar way as electrochemically etched GaN, and the Al-composition has a strong influence on the required voltage needed to achieve complete etching. The etched N-polar surface shows the same macroscopic topography as that of the as-grown epitaxial structure, and the root-mean square roughness is 3.5 nm for $1 \,\mu m \times 1 \,\mu m$ scan areas. Separated device layers have a well-defined thickness and smooth etched surfaces. Transferred multi-quantum-well structures were fabricated and investigated by time-resolved photoluminescence measurements. The quantum wells showed no sign of degradation caused by the thin-film process.

My contribution: I identified electrochemical (EC) etching as a promising technology for creating GaN membranes and further developed this etch technique to also be able to etch AlGaN with high Al-compositions and create AlGaN membranes. I designed and built the EC etching cell and sample holder and choose suitable etch conditions (etch voltage, choice of electrolyte and concentration). I also contributed to the epitaxial design (sacrificial layer and etch block layer designs) together with the group at TUB and did the sample layout design and processing including the EC etching of all the samples. I did the characterization of the membranes by SEM and AFM and wrote the manuscript with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper B

Thin-film flip-chip UVB LEDs realized by electrochemical etching

Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Filip Hjort, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund

Applied Physics Letters, vol. 116, issue 12, p. 121101, 2020.

First time demonstration of a thin-film flip-chip (TFFC) UVB LED where the substrate has been removed by electrochemical etching. This is an important step toward improving the light extraction efficiency that limits the power conversion efficiency in AlGaN-based LEDs. The electroluminescence spectrum of the TFFC LED corresponds well to that of the as-grown LED structure, showing no sign of degradation of structural and optical properties by electrochemical etching. This is achieved by a proper epitaxial design of the sacrificial layer and the etch stop layers in relation to the LED structure and the electrochemical etch conditions.

My contribution: Based on the results from [Paper A], I contributed to the epitaxial design of sacrificial layer and etch block layers together with the group at TUB. I, together with Filip Hjort, did the device layout design, developed the process flow and the thermocompression bonding technique, processed the LEDs including the EC etching where I selected the suitable etch conditions and did the tranfer of the devices. I did the electrical and optical characterization of the LEDs as well as the investigation by SEM and optical microscopy and wrote the manuscript with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper C

High-efficiency UVB LEDs using a thin-film flip-chip design and surface roughening

Michael A. Bergmann, Johannes Enslin, Martin Guttmann, Luca Sulmoni, Neysha Lobo-Ploch, Filip Hjort, Tim Kolbe, Tim Wernicke, Michael Kneissl, and Åsa Haglund

Manuscript.

TFFC LEDs are demonstrated where the LEDs are fabricated by a standard LED device process flow, which is followed by a substrate removal and flip-chip bonding of the devices. The thin-film device realization is enabled by a proper sample layout in combination with the right epitaxial design of the sacrificial layer and etch block layers in relation to the device structure. The device performance is compared for TFFC LEDs with and without surface roughening, demonstrating the impact of the surface roughening on the light extraction efficiency and thereby the overall power conversion efficiency.

My contribution: I contributed to the epitaxial design of different sacrificial layers and etch block layers that were explored together with the group at TUB. I did the device layout and carrier design, most of the process steps for the LEDs (p-contacts, metal leveling layer, bondpads, insulation, and etch protection) including the EC etching where I selected suitable etch conditions. In addition, I developed the selective surface roughening step for the LEDs as well as the design and full processing of the carrier chips. I developed the thermocompressive bonding with pillars instead of planar layers and did the bonding of LEDs to carrier wafer. I did the initial electrical and optical characterization of the LEDs as well as the investigation by SEM and optical microscopy and wrote the manuscript with feedback from the co-authors.

Bibliography

- J. Y. Tsao, J. Han, R. H. Haitz, and P. M. Pattison, "The Blue LED Nobel Prize: Historical context, current scientific understanding, human benefit," *Annalen der Physik*, vol. 527, no. 5-6, pp. A53–A61, 2015.
- [2] World Health Organization, "Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): situation report, 209," 2020.
- [3] M. Kneissl, T.-Y. Seong, J. Han, and H. Amano, "The emergence and prospects of deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diode technologies," *Nature Photonics*, vol. 13, pp. 233–244, 2019.
- [4] M. Kneissl, III-Nitride Ultraviolet Emitters Technology and Applications, ser. Springer Series in Materials Science, M. Kneissl and J. Rass, Eds. Springer International Publishing, 2016, vol. 227.
- [5] C. A. Hurni, A. David, M. J. Cich, R. I. Aldaz, B. Ellis, K. Huang, A. Tyagi, R. A. DeLille, M. D. Craven, F. M. Steranka, and M. R. Krames, "Bulk GaN flip-chip violet light-emitting diodes with optimized efficiency for high-power operation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 106, no. 3, p. 031101, 2015.
- [6] H. Morkoç, Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices: Materials Properties, Physics and Growth, Volume 1. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2009, ch. 2, pp. 131–321.
- [7] H. Amano, R. Collazo, C. de Santi, S. Einfeldt, M. Funato, J. Glaab,
 S. Hagedorn, A. Hirano, H. Hirayama, R. Ishii, Y. Kashima, Y. Kawakami,
 R. Kirste, M. Kneissl, R. W. Martin, F. Mehnke, M. Meneghini,

A. Ougazzaden, P. J. Parbrook, S. Rajan, P. Reddy, F. Römer, J. Ruschel,
B. Sarkar, F. Scholz, L. Schowalter, P. Shields, Z. Sitar, L. Sulmoni, T. Wang,
T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, B. Witzigmann, Y.-R. Wu, T. Wunderer, and
Y. Zhang, "The 2020 UV Emitter Roadmap," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 2020.

- [8] J. E. Northrup, C. L. Chua, Z. Yang, T. Wunderer, M. Kneissl, N. M. Johnson, and T. Kolbe, "Effect of strain and barrier composition on the polarization of light emission from AlGaN/AlN quantum wells," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 2, p. 021101, 2012.
- [9] C. G. Van de Walle, C. Stampfl, J. Neugebauer, M. D. McCluskey, and N. M. Johnson, "Doping of AlGaN Alloys," *MRS Internet Journal of Nitride Semiconductor Research*, vol. 4, no. S1, pp. 890–901, 1999.
- [10] W. Liu and A. A. Balandin, "Thermal conduction in Al_xGa_{1-x}N alloys and thin films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 97, no. 7, p. 073710, 2005.
- [11] E. F. Schubert, *Light-Emitting Diodes*, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [12] M. Kaneda, C. Pernot, Y. Nagasawa, A. Hirano, M. Ippommatsu, Y. Honda, H. Amano, and I. Akasaki, "Uneven AlGaN multiple quantum well for deep-ultraviolet LEDs grown on macrosteps and impact on electroluminescence spectral output," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 56, no. 6, p. 061002, 2017.
- [13] M. R. Krames, O. B. Shchekin, R. Mueller-Mach, G. O. Mueller, L. Zhou, G. Harbers, and M. G. Craford, "Status and Future of High-Power Light-Emitting Diodes for Solid-State Lighting," *Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 160–175, 2007.
- [14] T. Nishida, H. Saito, and N. Kobayashi, "Efficient and high-power AlGaN-based ultraviolet light-emitting diode grown on bulk GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 79, no. 6, pp. 711–712, 2001.
- [15] N. Susilo, S. Hagedorn, D. Jaeger, H. Miyake, U. Zeimer, C. Reich,
 B. Neuschulz, L. Sulmoni, M. Guttmann, F. Mehnke, C. Kuhn, T. Wernicke,
 M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "AlGaN-based deep UV LEDs grown on

sputtered and high temperature annealed AlN/sapphire," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 112, no. 4, p. 041110, 2018.

- [16] J. Grandusky, Y. Cui, S. Gibb, M. Mendrick, and L. Schowalter, "Performance and reliability of ultraviolet-C pseudomorphic light emitting diodes on bulk AlN substrates," *physica status solidi c*, vol. 7, no. 7-8, pp. 2199–2201, 2010.
- [17] J. Enslin, F. Mehnke, A. Mogilatenko, K. Bellmann, M. Guttmann, C. Kuhn, J. Rass, N. Lobo-Ploch, T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "Metamorphic Al_{0.5}Ga_{0.5}N:Si on AlN/sapphire for the growth of UVB LEDs," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 464, pp. 185–189, 2017.
- [18] N. Susilo, J. Enslin, L. Sulmoni, M. Guttmann, U. Zeimer, T. Wernicke, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "Effect of the GaN:Mg Contact Layer on the Light-Output and Current-Voltage Characteristic of UVB LEDs," *physica status solidi* (*a*), vol. 215, no. 10, p. 1700643, 2018.
- [19] Y. Kashima, N. Maeda, E. Matsuura, M. Jo, T. Iwai, T. Morita, M. Kokubo, T. Tashiro, R. Kamimura, Y. Osada, H. Takagi, and H. Hirayama, "High external quantum efficiency (10%) AlGaN-based deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes achieved by using highly reflective photonic crystal on p-AlGaN contact layer," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 012101, 2017.
- [20] H. K. Cho, I. Ostermay, U. Zeimer, J. Enslin, T. Wernicke, S. Einfeldt, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "Highly Reflective p-Contacts Made of Pd-Al on Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 29, no. 24, pp. 2222–2225, 2017.
- [21] J. Rass and N. Lobo-Ploch, *III-Nitride Ultraviolet Emitters Technology and Applications*, ser. Springer Series in Materials Science, M. Kneissl and J. Rass, Eds. Springer International Publishing, 2016, vol. 227.
- [22] M. R. Krames, M. Ochiai-Holcomb, G. E. Höfler, C. Carter-Coman, E. I. Chen, I.-H. Tan, P. Grillot, N. F. Gardner, H. C. Chui, J.-W. Huang, S. A. Stockman, F. A. Kish, M. G. Craford, T. S. Tan, C. P. Kocot, M. Hueschen, J. Posselt, B. Loh, G. Sasser, and D. Collins, "High-power truncated-inverted-pyramid (Al_xGa_{1-x})_{0.5}In_{0.5}P/GaP light-emitting diodes

exhibiting >50% external quantum efficiency," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 75, no. 16, pp. 2365–2367, 1999.

- [23] T. Takano, T. Mino, J. Sakai, N. Noguchi, K. Tsubaki, and H. Hirayama, "Deep-ultraviolet light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency higher than 20% at 275 nm achieved by improving light-extraction efficiency," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 10, no. 3, p. 031002, 2017.
- [24] H. Aoshima, K. Takeda, K. Takehara, S. Ito, M. Mori, M. Iwaya, T. Takeuchi, S. Kamiyama, I. Akasaki, and H. Amano, "Laser lift-off of AlN/sapphire for UV light-emitting diodes," *Physica Status Solidi C*, vol. 9, no. 3-4, pp. 753–756, 2012.
- [25] Y. J. Sung, M.-S. Kim, H. Kim, S. Choi, Y. H. Kim, M.-H. Jung, R.-J. Choi, Y.-T. Moon, J.-T. Oh, H.-H. Jeong, and G. Y. Yeom, "Light extraction enhancement of AlGaN-based vertical type deep-ultraviolet light-emitting-diodes by using highly reflective ITO/Al electrode and surface roughening," *Optics Express*, vol. 27, no. 21, pp. 29 930–29 937, 2019.
- [26] C. E. Leez, B. S. Cheng, Y. C. Lee, H. C. Kuo, T. C. Lu, and S. C. Wang, "Output Power Enhancement of Vertical-Injection Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes by GaN-Free and Surface Roughness Structures," *Electrochemical and Solid State Letters*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. H44–H46, 2008.
- [27] B. K. SaifAddin, A. Almogbel, C. J. Zollner, H. Foronda, A. Alyamani,
 A. Albadri, M. Iza, S. Nakamura, S. P. DenBaars, and J. S. Speck,
 "Fabrication technology for high light-extraction ultraviolet thin-film flip-chip (UV TFFC) LEDs grown on SiC," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 34, no. 3, p. 035007, 2019.
- [28] L. Zhou, J. E. Epler, M. R. Krames, W. Goetz, M. Gherasimova, Z. Ren, J. Han, M. Kneissl, and N. M. Johnson, "Vertical injection thin-film AlGaN/AlGaN multiple-quantum-well deep ultraviolet light-emitting diodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 89, no. 24, p. 241113, 2006.
- [29] M. Lachab, F. Asif, B. Zhang, I. Ahmad, A. Heidari, Q. Fareed, V. Adivarahan, and A. Khan, "Enhancement of light extraction efficiency in sub-300nm nitride thin-film flip-chip light-emitting diodes," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 89, pp. 156–160, 2013.

- [30] H. K. Cho, O. Krüger, A. Külberg, J. Rass, U. Zeimer, T. Kolbe, A. Knauer, S. Einfeldt, M. Weyers, and M. Kneissl, "Chip design for thin-film deep ultraviolet LEDs fabricated by laser lift-off of the sapphire substrate," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 32, no. 12, p. 12LT01, 2017.
- [31] J.-T. Oh, Y.-T. Moon, D.-S. Kang, C.-K. Park, J.-W. Han, M.-H. Jung, Y.-J. Sung, H.-H. Jeong, J.-O. Song, and T.-Y. Seong, "High efficiency ultraviolet GaN-based vertical light emitting diodes on 6-inch sapphire substrate using ex-situ sputtered AlN nucleation layer," *Optics Express*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 5111–5117, 2018.
- [32] B. K. SaifAddin, M. Iza, H. Foronda, A. Almogbel, C. J. Zollner, F. Wu, A. Alyamani, A. Albadri, S. Nakamura, S. P. DenBaars, and J. S. Speck, "Impact of roughening density on the light extraction efficiency of thin-film flip-chip ultraviolet LEDs grown on SiC," *Optics Express*, vol. 27, no. 16, pp. A1074–A1083, 2019.
- [33] B. K. SaifAddin, A. S. Almogbel, C. J. Zollner, F. Wu, B. Bonef, M. Iza, S. Nakamura, S. P. DenBaars, and J. S. Speck, "AlGaN Deep-Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes Grown on SiC Substrates," ACS Photonics, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 554–561, 2020.
- [34] A. D. Groote, P. Cardile, A. Z. Subramanian, A. M. Fecioru, C. Bower, D. Delbeke, R. Baets, and G. Roelkens, "Transfer-printing-based integration of single-mode waveguide-coupled III-V-on-silicon broadband light emitters," *Optics Express*, vol. 24, no. 13, pp. 13754–13762, 2016.
- [35] C.-W. Cheng, K.-T. Shiu, N. Li, S.-J. Han, L. Shi, and D. K. Sadana, "Epitaxial lift-off process for gallium arsenide substrate reuse and flexible electronics," *Nature Communications*, vol. 4, no. 1577, 2013.
- [36] D. Zhuang and J. H. Edgar, "Wet etching of GaN, AlN, and SiC: a review," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 1–46, 2005.
- [37] M. K. Kelly, O. Ambacher, R. Dimitrov, R. Handschuh, and M. Stutzmann, "Optical Process for Liftoff of Group III-Nitride Films," *Physica Status Solidi A*, vol. 159, no. 1, pp. R3–R4, 1997.

- [38] J. Kim, J.-H. Kim, S.-H. Cho, and K.-H. Whang, "Selective lift-off of GaN light-emitting diode from a sapphire substrate using 266-nm diode-pumped solid-state laser irradiation," *Applied Physics A*, vol. 122, no. 305, 2016.
- [39] N. Yulianto, S. Bornemann, L. Daul, C. Margenfeld, I. M. Clavero, N. Majid, L. Koenders, W. Daum, A. Waag, and H. S. Wasisto, "Transferable Substrateless GaN LED Chips Produced by Femtosecond Laser Lift-Off for Flexible Sensor Applications," *Proceedings*, vol. 2, no. 13, 2018.
- [40] Y.-K. Song, H. Zhou, M. Diagne, I. Ozden, A. Vertikov, A. V. Nurmikko, C. Carter-Coman, R. S. Kern, F. A. Kish, and M. R. Krames, "A vertical cavity light emitting InGaN quantum well heterostructure," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 74, no. 23, pp. 3441–3443, 1999.
- [41] Y.-Y. Lai, T.-C. Chang, Y.-C. Li, T.-C. Lu, and S.-C. Wang, "Electrically Pumped III-N Microcavity Light Emitters Incorporating an Oxide Confinement Aperture," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, vol. 12, no. 15, 2017.
- [42] M. Arita, S. Kako, S. Iwamoto, and Y. Arakawa, "Fabrication of AlGaN Two-Dimensional Photonic Crystal Nanocavities by Selective Thermal Decomposition of GaN," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 5, no. 12, p. 126502, 2012.
- [43] R. Tao, M. Arita, S. Kako, and Y. Arakawa, "Fabrication and optical properties of non-polar III-nitride air-gap distributed Bragg reflector microcavities," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 103, no. 20, p. 201118, 2013.
- [44] J. I. Pankove, "Electrolytic Etching of GaN," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 119, no. 8, p. 1118, 1972.
- [45] M. S. Minsky, M. White, and E. L. Hu, "Room-temperature photoenhanced wet etching of GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 68, no. 11, pp. 1531–1533, 1996.
- [46] S. Lee, S. M. Ul-Masabih, J. T. Leonard, D. F. Feezell, D. A. Cohen, J. S. Speck, S. Nakamura, and S. P. DenBaars, "Smooth and selective photo-electrochemical etching of heavily doped GaN:Si using a mode-locked 355 nm microchip laser," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 011001, 2016.

- [47] E. Trichas, N. T. Pelekanos, E. Iliopoulos, E. Monroy, K. Tsagaraki, A. Kostopoulos, and P. G. Savvidis, "Bragg polariton luminescence from a GaN membrane embedded in all dielectric microcavity," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 22, p. 221101, 2011.
- [48] R. Jayaprakash, F. G. Kalaitzakis, M. Kayambaki, K. Tsagaraki, E. Monroy, and T. Pelekanos N., "Ultra-smooth GaN membranes by photo-electrochemical etching for photonic applications," *Journal of Materials Science*, vol. 49, pp. 4018–4024, 2014.
- [49] C. Youtsey, R. McCarthy, R. Reddy, K. Forghani, A. Xie, E. Beam, J. Wang, P. Fay, T. Ciarkowski, E. Carlson, and L. Guido, "Wafer-scale epitaxial lift-off of GaN using bandgap-selective photoenhanced wet etching," *physica status solidi* (*b*), vol. 254, no. 8, p. 1600774, 2017.
- [50] F. Horikiri, H. Ohta, N. Asai, Y. Narita, T. Yoshida, and T. Mishima, "Excellent potential of photo-electrochemical etching for fabricating high-aspect-ratio deep trenches in gallium nitride," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 11, no. 9, p. 091001, 2018.
- [51] F. Horikiri, Y. Narita, and T. Yoshida, "Excellent wet etching technique using pulsed anodic oxidation for homoepitaxially grown GaN layer," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 57, no. 8, p. 086502, 2018.
- [52] C. Holder, J. S. Speck, S. P. DenBaars, S. Nakamura, and D. Feezell,
 "Demonstration of Nonpolar GaN-Based Vertical-Cavity Surface-Emitting Lasers," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 5, no. 9, p. 092104, 2012.
- [53] J. A. Kearns, J. Back, D. A. Cohen, S. P. DenBaars, and S. Nakamura, "Demonstration of blue semipolar (2021) GaN-based vertical-cavity surface-emitting lasers," *Optics Express*, vol. 27, no. 17, pp. 23707–23713, 2019.
- [54] J. S. You, D. Kim, J. Y. Huh, H. J. Park, J. J. Pak, and C. S. Kang, "Experiments on anisotropic etching of Si in TMAH," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 37–44, 2001.
- [55] D. J. Meyer, B. P. Downey, D. S. Katzer, N. Nepal, V. D. Wheeler, M. T. Hardy, T. J. Anderson, and D. F. Storm, "Epitaxial Lift-Off and Transfer of

III-N Materials and Devices from SiC Substrates," *IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 384–389, 2016.

- [56] B. P. Downey, D. S. Katzer, N. Nepal, M. T. Hardy, and D. J. Meyer, "XeF2 etching of epitaxial Nb2N for lift-off or micromachining of III-N materials and devices," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A*, vol. 35, no. 5, p. 05C312, 2017.
- [57] Y. Kobayashi, K. Kumakura, T. Akasaka, and T. Makimoto, "Layered boron nitride as a release layer for mechanical transfer of GaN-based devices," *Nature*, vol. 484, pp. 223–227, 2012.
- [58] T. Ayari, S. Sundaram, X. Li, Y. El Gmili, P. L. Voss, J. P. Salvestrini, and A. Ougazzaden, "Wafer-scale controlled exfoliation of metal organic vapor phase epitaxy grown InGaN/GaN multi quantum well structures using low-tack two-dimensional layered h-BN," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 108, no. 17, p. 171106, 2016.
- [59] I. Rousseau, I. Sánchez-Arribas, K. Shojiki, J.-F. Carlin, R. Butté, and N. Grandjean, "Quantification of scattering loss of III-nitride photonic crystal cavities in the blue spectral range," *Physical Review B*, vol. 95, p. 125313, 2017.
- [60] D. Bai, T. Wu, X. Li, X. Gao, Y. Xu, Z. Cao, H. Zhu, and Y. Wang,
 "Suspended GaN-based nanostructure for integrated optics," *Applied Physics B*, vol. 122, no. 9, 2016.
- [61] X. Gao, J. Yuan, Y. Yang, Y. Li, W. Yuan, G. Zhu, H. Zhu, M. Feng, Q. Sun, Y. Liu, and Y. Wang, "A 30 Mbps in-plane full-duplex light communication using a monolithic GaN photonic circuit," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 32, no. 7, p. 075002, 2017.
- [62] S. Krause, V. Desmaris, A. Pavolotsky, D. Meledin, and V. Belitsky, "Suspended GaN beams and membranes on Si as a platform for waveguide-based THz applications," *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, vol. 28, no. 10, p. 105007, 2018.
- [63] W. Cai, C. Qin, S. Zhang, J. Yuan, F. Zhang, and Y. Wang, "Monolithic photonic integrated circuit with a GaN-based bent waveguide," *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, vol. 28, no. 6, p. 065003, 2018.
- [64] T. Sasaki, Y. Hayakawa, and K. Hane, "Polymer bonding of GaN crystal layer on silicon substrate for micro mechanical resonator applications," *Microsystem Technologies*, vol. 23, pp. 2891–2898, 2017.
- [65] D. Moon, J. Jang, D. Choi, I.-S. Shin, D. Lee, D. Bae, Y. Park, and E. Yoon, "An ultra-thin compliant sapphire membrane for the growth of less strained, less defective GaN," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 441, pp. 52–57, 2016.
- [66] S. Lee, J. Kim, J. Oh, J. Ryu, K. Hwang, J. Hwang, S. Kang, J. H. Choi, Y. C. Sim, Y.-H. Cho, T. H. Chung, T. Jeong, Y. Park, and E. Yoon, "A discrete core-shell-like micro-light-emitting diode array grown on sapphire nano-membranes," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 10, no. 7506, 2020.
- [67] E. Mieda, T. Maeda, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, Y. Kurashima, A. Maeda, H. Takagi, T. Aoki, T. Yamamoto, O. Ichikawa, T. Osada, M. Hata, A. Ogawa, T. Kikuchi, and Y. Kunii, "Wafer-scale layer transfer of GaAs and Ge onto Si wafers using patterned epitaxial lift-off," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 54, no. 3, p. 036505, 2015.
- [68] H.-s. Kim, E. Brueckner, J. Song, Y. Li, S. Kim, C. Lu, J. Sulkin, K. Choquette, Y. Huang, R. G. Nuzzo, and J. A. Rogers, "Unusual strategies for using indium gallium nitride grown on silicon (111) for solid-state lighting," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 108, no. 25, pp. 10072–10077, 2011.
- [69] C. A. Bower, M. Meitl, and D. Kneeburg, "Micro-Transfer-Printing: Heterogeneous integration of microscale semiconductor devices using elastomer stamps," in SENSORS, 2014 IEEE, 2014, pp. 2111–2113.
- [70] C. H. Tsau, S. M. Spearing, and M. A. Schmidt, "Characterization of wafer-level thermocompression bonds," *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 963–971, 2004.
- [71] M. M. V. Taklo, P. Storås, K. Schjølberg-Henriksen, H. K. Hasting, and H. Jakobsen, "Strong, high-yield and low-temperature thermocompression silicon wafer-level bonding with gold," *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 884–890, 2004.
- [72] N. Malik, H. Tofteberg, E. Poppe, T. G. Finstad, and K. Schjolberg-Henriksen, "Hermeticity and Reliability of Au-Au

Thermocompression Bonds, Realized at Low Temperature," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 167–176, 2014.

- [73] H. Gerischer, "Electron-transfer kinetics of redox reactions at the semiconductor/electrolyte contact. A new approach," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 1356–1359, 1991.
- [74] R. G. Bates and J. B. Macaskill, "Standard Potential of the Silver-Silver Chloride Electrode," *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, vol. 50, pp. 1701–1706, 2009.
- [75] M.-R. Zhang, F. Hou, Z.-G. Wang, S.-H. Zhang, and G.-B. Pan, "Photoelectrochemical etching of gallium nitride surface by complexation dissolution mechanism," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 410, pp. 332 – 335, 2017.
- [76] S. Chen and L.-W. Wang, "Thermodynamic Oxidation and Reduction Potentials of Photocatalytic Semiconductors in Aqueous Solution," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 24, no. 18, pp. 3659–3666, 2012.
- [77] M. Pourbaix, *Atlas of electrochemical equilibria in aqueous solutions*. National Association of Corrosion Engineers, 1974, ch. 4.
- [78] J. Park, K. M. Song, S.-R. Jeon, J. H. Baek, and S.-W. Ryu, "Doping selective lateral electrochemical etching of GaN for chemical lift-off," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 22, p. 221907, 2009.
- [79] Y. Zhang, Q. Sun, B. Leung, J. Simon, M. L. Lee, and J. Han, "The fabrication of large-area, free-standing GaN by a novel nanoetching process," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 22, no. 4, p. 045603, dec 2010.
- [80] Y. Zhang, B. Leung, and J. Han, "A liftoff process of GaN layers and devices through nanoporous transformation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 18, p. 181908, 2012.
- [81] D. Chen, H. Xiao, and J. Han, "Nanopores in GaN by electrochemical anodization in hydrofluoric acid: Formation and mechanism," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 112, no. 6, p. 064303, 2012.

- [82] D. Chen and J. Han, "High reflectance membrane-based distributed Bragg reflectors for GaN photonics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 22, p. 221104, 2012.
- [83] M. J. Schwab, J. Han, and L. D. Pfefferle, "Neutral anodic etching of GaN for vertical or crystallographic alignment," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 106, no. 24, p. 241603, 2015.
- [84] Q. Gao, H. Xiao, D. Cao, X. Yang, J. Liu, H. Mao, and J. Ma, "Fabrication and properties of self-standing GaN-based film with a strong phase-separated InGaN/GaN layer in neutral electrolyte," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 722, pp. 767–771, 2017.
- [85] D. Cao, X. Yang, L. Shen, C. Zhao, C. Luan, J. Ma, and H. Xiao, "Fabrication and properties of high quality InGaN-based LEDs with highly reflective nanoporous GaN mirrors," *Photonics Research*, vol. 6, no. 12, pp. 1144–1150, 2018.
- [86] T.-H. Chang, K. Xiong, S. H. Park, G. Yuan, Z. Ma, and J. Han, "Strain Balanced AlGaN/GaN/AlGaN nanomembrane HEMTs," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 6360, 2017.
- [87] A. W. Bruch, K. Xiong, H. Jung, X. Guo, C. Zhang, J. Han, and H. X. Tang, "Electrochemically sliced low loss AlGaN optical microresonators," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 110, no. 2, p. 021111, 2017.
- [88] J.-H. Kang, D. K. Jeong, and S.-W. Ryu, "Transparent, Flexible Piezoelectric Nanogenerator Based on GaN Membrane Using Electrochemical Lift-Off," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 10637–10642, 2017.
- [89] Y. Zhang, S.-W. Ryu, C. Yerino, B. Leung, Q. Sun, Q. Song, H. Cao, and J. Han, "A conductivity-based selective etching for next generation GaN devices," *Physica Status Solidi* (b), vol. 247, no. 7, pp. 1713–1716, 2010.
- [90] C. Zhang, G. Yuan, A. Bruch, K. Xiong, H. X. Tang, and J. Han, "Toward Quantitative Electrochemical Nanomachining of III-Nitrides," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 165, no. 10, pp. E513–E520, 2018.
- [91] S. H. Park, G. Yuan, D. Chen, K. Xiong, J. Song, B. Leung, and J. Han, "Wide Bandgap III-Nitride Nanomembranes for Optoelectronic Applications," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 4293–4298, 2014.

- [92] F. C.-P. Massabuau, P. H. Griffin, H. P. Springbett, Y. Liu, R. V. Kumar, T. Zhu, and R. A. Oliver, "Dislocations as channels for the fabrication of sub-surface porous GaN by electrochemical etching," *APL Materials*, vol. 8, no. 3, p. 031115, 2020.
- [93] M. J. Schwab, D. Chen, J. Han, and L. D. Pfefferle, "Aligned Mesopore Arrays in GaN by Anodic Etching and Photoelectrochemical Surface Etching," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 117, no. 33, pp. 16 890–16 895, 2013.
- [94] W. J. Tseng, D. H. van Dorp, R. R. Lieten, P. M. Vereecken, and G. Borghs, "Anodic Etching of n-GaN Epilayer into Porous GaN and Its Photoelectrochemical Properties," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 118, no. 51, pp. 29492–29498, 2014.
- [95] D. Kim, S. Kim, J. Lee, S. Jeon, and H. Jeon, "Free-Standing GaN-Based Photonic Crystal Band-Edge Laser," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 23, no. 20, pp. 1454–1456, 2011.
- [96] D.-U. Kim, H. Chang, H. Cha, H. Jeon, and S.-R. Jeon, "Selective lateral electrochemical etching of a GaN-based superlattice layer for thin film device application," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 102, no. 15, p. 152112, 2013.
- [97] Y. J. Park, T. Detchprohm, K. Mehta, J. Wang, H. Jeong, Y.-S. Liu, P. Chen, S. Wang, S.-C. Shen, P. D. Yoder, F. Ponce, and R. Dupuis, "Optically pumped vertical-cavity surface-emitting lasers at 375 nm with air-gap/Al_{0.05}Ga_{0.95}N distributed Bragg reflectors," in *Vertical-Cavity Surface-Emitting Lasers XXIII*, K. D. Choquette and L. A. Graham, Eds., vol. 10938, International Society for Optics and Photonics. SPIE, 2019, pp. 27–33.
- [98] W.-J. Hsu, K.-T. Chen, W.-C. Huang, C.-J. Wu, J.-J. Dai, S.-H. Chen, and C.-F. Lin, "InGaN light emitting diodes with a nanopipe layer formed from the GaN epitaxial layer," *Optics Express*, vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 11601–11610, 2016.
- [99] L. Zhang, J. Yan, Q. Wu, Y. Guo, C. Yang, T. Wei, Z. Liu, G. Yuan, X. Wei, L. Zhao, Y. Zhang, J. Li, and J. Wang, "Improved crystalline quality of Al-rich n-AlGaN by regrowth on nanoporous template fabricated by

electrochemical etching," *Journal of Nanophotonics*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 1–10, 2018.

- [100] S. Mishkat-Ul-Masabih, T. S. Luk, A. Rishinaramangalam, M. Monavarian, M. Nami, and D. Feezell, "Nanoporous distributed Bragg reflectors on free-standing nonpolar m-plane GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 112, no. 4, p. 041109, 2018.
- [101] S. S. Kocha, M. W. Peterson, D. J. Arent, J. M. Redwing, M. A. Tischler, and J. A. Turner, "Electrochemical Investigation of the Gallium Nitride-Aqueous Electrolyte Interface," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 142, no. 12, p. L238, 1995.
- [102] M. Ohkubo, "Effects of Dissolved Oxygen on Anodic Etching of n-Type GaN Films Using a Sodium Hydroxide Electrolyte," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 36, no. Part 2, No. 7B, pp. L955–L958, 1997.
- [103] —, "Anodic etching of n-type GaN films in NaOH electrolyte with Cl ions," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 189-190, pp. 734–737, 1998.
- [104] C. Yang, L. Liu, S. Zhu, Z. Yu, X. Xi, S. Wu, H. Cao, J. Li, and L. Zhao, "GaN with Laterally Aligned Nanopores To Enhance the Water Splitting," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 121, no. 13, pp. 7331–7336, 2017.
- [105] G. Gautier, D. Valente, J. Biscarrat, and A. Yvon, "Observations of Macroporous Gallium Nitride Electrochemically Etched from High Doped Single Crystal Wafers in HF Based Electrolytes," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. P146–P148, 2013.

Bibliography

Papers A–C